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Thursday, December 12, 2013

--- Upon commencing at 9:36 a.m.
MS. CONBOY:  Please be seated, everyone.


Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in relation to applications originally filed on April 26th, 2013 by Hydro One Networks Inc. and Norfolk Power Distribution, both licenced electricity distributors, and Hydro One Inc., Hydro One Networks' parent company, which I will collectively refer to as the Applicants.

     The applications filed on April 26 were as follows:  Hydro One Inc. applied for leave to purchase all of the issues and outstanding shares of Norfolk Power Inc. under section 86(2)(b) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, and we assigned Board file number EB-2013-0196 to that application.


The second one was Norfolk Power Distribution Inc. applied for leave to dispose of its distribution system to Hydro One Networks under section 86(1)(a) of the Act, and we gave that one Board file number EB-2013-0187.


And Hydro One Networks Inc. applied for inclusion of a rate rider in the 2013 Board-approved rate schedule of Norfolk Power Distribution Inc. to give effect to a 1 percent reduction relative to 2012 base electricity delivery rates, exclusive of rate riders, under section 78 of the Act, and Board file number EB-2013-0198 was assigned to that application.  

     Today we are specifically sitting to hear argument of a notice of motion filed by Schools Energy Coalition on October 30th, 2013, requesting an order of the Board requiring Hydro One Networks Inc. and/or Norfolk Distribution to provide information sought by interrogatories posed by School Energy Coalition and other parties.


The Panel notes that the Applicants have amended their application twice during the course of this proceeding.  Based on the most recent amendments -- namely, the Applicants' submissions dated November 22nd, 2013 -- the Panel understands the applications now seek the following orders of the Board -- and I will ask for a confirmation on those amendments in a moment -- an order granting Hydro One Inc. leave to purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares of Norfolk Power Inc. under section 86(2)(b) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, an order allowing Norfolk Power Distribution Inc. to include a rate rider in its 2013 OEB-approved rate schedule to give effect to a 1 percent reduction relative to 2012 base electricity delivery rates, again exclusive of rate riders, under section 78 of the Act, an order granting Norfolk Power Distribution leave to transfer its distribution system to Hydro One Networks Inc. under section 86(1)(a) of the Act within 18 months of the date of the order, and finally, an order granting Norfolk Power Distribution Inc. leave to transfer its rate order and electricity distribution licence to Hydro One Networks upon receipt by the Board of notification of completion of the transfer of Norfolk Power Distribution's distribution system to Hydro One Networks Inc.

     School Energy Coalition has indicated that the amended relief has no material impact on its notice of motion.  School Energy Coalition has indicated that with one exception -- Staff Interrogatory 9.2, related to US GAAP, as referred to in paragraph 71 and 72 of the Schools notice of motion -- all the relief sought in its motion remains necessary, and no amendments to the notice of motion are required.


My name is Paula Conboy and I will be presiding over today's proceedings.  With me today are my colleagues, Ken Quesnelle and Ellen Fry.


May I have appearances, please?


APPEARANCES:
     MR. NETTLETON:  Good morning, Panel.  My name is Gordon Nettleton.  I'm appearing on behalf of the -- one of 

the Applicants, Hydro One Inc.  I'm also counsel to Hydro One Networks Inc.  With me is my colleague, Héloïse Apestéguy-Reux.

And we have one preliminary matter, and it concerns a response that was requested of us regarding supplementary information requests that were provided by the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  I can speak to that now or I can speak to it after the order of appearances. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Why don't we get through the order of appearances, and then --


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  


MS. CONBOY:  -- we'll come back to you, Mr. Nettleton.  Thank you.  

     MR. VELLONE:  Good morning.  My name is John Vellone, and I'm acting as counsel for Norfolk Power Distribution Inc., as well as Norfolk County.

     MS. CONBOY:  Good morning, Mr. Vellone. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Jay Shepherd, and I represent the School Energy Coalition, and we are the moving party in this proceeding.

     MS. CONBOY:  Good morning, Mr. Shepherd. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Dennis O'Leary for Essex Powerlines, Bluewater Power, and Niagara-on-the-Lake, and we are supporting the School Energy Coalition on this matter. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Good morning.  

     MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan.  I'm a consultant to the Consumers Council of Canada. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Good morning, Ms. Girvan.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Good morning.  Kristi Sebalj for Board staff, and with me is Gona Jaff, who is the case manager. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  


MR. JANIGAN:  Michael Janigan for the Vulnerable Energy Consumer Coalition on the telephone.


MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, Mr. Janigan.  I was aware that you were there.  Thank you very much.  


MR. JANIGAN:  That's okay.

     MS. CONBOY:  I'd mentioned that at the outset of today we would seek confirmation from Hydro One and Norfolk that the relief sought by the Applicants continues to be as requested in your letter of November 22nd.  Could I have a representative of one of those two entities to speak to that, please?  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Certainly, Madam Chair.  I can confirm that what I heard you read out was the relief that we are certainly seeking through the correspondence, the last 

correspondence that we've provided to the Board.  So the short answer is yes. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  If I may just interrupt for a brief moment, out of an abundance of caution I'm wondering, because it involves procedural matters of the Board, if -- and you -- the Applicants did confirm this in the November 22nd letter as well, but that this means that there is a withdrawal of two -- of two aspects of the relief, including the order cancelling Norfolk Power Distribution's electricity distribution licence under section 77(5) of the Act, and an order amending Hydro One Network Inc.'s electricity distribution licence under section 74 of the Act.  Those are being withdrawn, as I understand it.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  That's correct.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Mr. O'Leary, you're reaching for your green button.


MR. O'LEARY:  It appears to work now.


The request is a simple one, is that with the apparent additional changes that my friend has just confirmed to, which are not exactly as read out by the Panel, I'm wondering if my friend would agree to provide us with a new style of cause or relief sought in writing so we would have it, and everyone would then have the ability to reference those at a future point in the proceeding.

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Is there any concern with that?

     MR. NETTLETON:  Just one observation, Madam Chair, and to my friend, that, as Ms. Sebalj had indicated, there was a response to an information request that asked my client to confirm the revised and amended relief, and so there is information already on the record with respect to the specific relief that is sought through that response to an information request.  I'm not sure if there's any additional value in having another piece of document come on the record that says this same thing. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  And that is the November 22nd submission that you are referring to?

     MR. NETTLETON:  The response to an information request of Staff, yes. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


Mr. Shepherd?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, the fact that Board Staff had to ask whether the two items were being withdrawn indicates that the November 22nd communication was not clear, and it would be useful if we had something that was clearer. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  This doesn't seem to be a very difficult request, in my mind.  Perhaps at a break if you could please file -- we'll put it in as an undertaking, I believe, if you could just put those down, including the two heads of relief that you are now withdrawing, please. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  We'll file it.  

     MS. CONBOY:  You'll get used to it by the end of the day. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  We will file a revised updated response to an information request.  Is that fine?  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Would you like me to mark it?  

     MS. CONBOY:  Sure. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  It's J1.1.  

UNDERTAKING J1.1:  FILE REVISED RESPONSE TO BOARD STAFF INFORMATION REQUEST.
     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Board Staff posed some clarifying questions for the Applicants, for which answers were provided in Hydro One Networks' submission dated November 22nd, 2013.  

In Procedural Order No. 7, the Board also provided intervenors with an opportunity to clarify questions to ask –- sorry, to ask clarifying questions at today's hearing prior to the hearing of the motion.  

The Board note that's the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition did file supplemental interrogatories, which, to our knowledge before today, had not been answered by the Applicants.  

But I believe that this is what we find up here on 

the dais now.  

     Mr. Janigan, have you got a copy of -- first of all we'll mark it as an exhibit. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  It will be K1.1.  

EXHIBIT K1.1:  VECC INTERROGATORY NO. 1, LIST 2.

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  And Mr. Janigan, you've got that in front of you?  

     MR. JANIGAN:  I do not.  Oh, what is the -- what is the date of these interrogatory responses? 

     MS. CONBOY:  What I'm looking at right now, Mr. Janigan, and I've just marked at K 1.1, the top right-hand corner it says filed December 12th, 2013.  It has the EB numbers, Exhibit 1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 1 of 1.  And it is Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition Interrogatory No. 1, list 2.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  I do not have that.  At least it does not appear on my computer. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Nettleton? 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, we understood from the procedural that as a preliminary matter today, we would be given the opportunity to respond to the questions that VECC had sent to my client.  

And so what we did was we took the steps of putting --

reducing to writing responses, which we have now circulated 

within the room.  

I wasn't aware Mr. Janigan wasn't going to be here physically, and so my client has taken steps to e-mail 

electronically a copy of the response, which was done just before the commencement of the proceeding when Mr. Janigan was clearly not here.  

So I think what we're experiencing is perhaps some 

internet delay.  But certainly the responses have been sent to him, and I believe someone from Hydro One is following up right now to ensure that the e-mail address of Mr. Janigan has been properly included in the e-mail. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

Mr. Janigan, why don't we deal with this a little bit later, giving you the opportunity to receive the e-mail?  And perhaps if you can have a look at it and see if you have any questions of clarification on what was filed this morning? 

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  If there are no other preliminary matters, perhaps we can proceed now to hear the submissions of the School Energy Coalition.

Sorry, Mr. Nettleton.  Go ahead.

     MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, just on your last remark to Mr. Janigan, we had not understood the Procedural Order to say that this was going to be an opportunity to have someone from Hydro One respond to follow-up questions, even of clarification with respect to the responses that have been provided.  

In my respectful submission, that would be improper because it would be giving VECC an opportunity that no other party would have.  

The purpose of the Procedural Order that we had understood was to afford all parties the same opportunity that Staff took, namely to ask questions of clarification reduced to writing, namely information or interrogatory requests, and those interrogatory requests have now been responded to per this filing today.  

So my point is this.  I do not have a witness from Hydro One -- even if it was considered appropriate, I do not have a witness from Hydro One who can follow up and respond to any questions supplementary to the supplemental interrogatories.  

So I just wanted to make you aware of that. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  If you'll give me a moment, please?  

     Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  So we'll just today make 

sure that Mr. Janigan receives the interrogatory responses, and we will await then the results or the decision on today's motion, and the extent to which we see what the next procedural steps are going to be.  

     So moving on to the motion, we will hear from the School Energy Coalition first, and then parties that 

support the motion.  

We will then follow with the Applicants' submissions and any parties in support of the Applicants' submissions.

And then, Mr. Shepherd, as the moving party, we will 

give you a final opportunity for reply.  

     Ms. Fry is reminding me that, of course, Board Staff, to the extent that you have submissions, you will go just before final reply.  

     Mr. Shepherd, would you like to begin?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Let me just start by saying that there are a few materials that I may refer to, and so we might as well be clear on what they are.  

There's the notice of motion, which I think you have, and it is bound.  I also delivered to the Board yesterday or the day before -- I don't remember -- an index so that you can cross-reference the interrogatories in the back, because the interrogatories are in one order, and in case you need to refer to them in a different order, we’ve provided you with an index, and I have copies.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Could we see those, please?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And there are more copies here, if anybody else wants it.  It's just so you can see it in IR order, as opposed to in the order that we've attached it, which is more our logic of our application.  

     The other thing we have provided is a presentation that was provided by Hydro One to Haldimand County, another acquisition target, on Tuesday, and we will be referring to this in argument.  

That perhaps should have an exhibit number, Madam Chair.  I don't know whether the others need to, but I think this probably does. 

     MS. CONBOY:  I think the first one, we probably don't need an exhibit number.  I thank you for that, though, because it does help us find the interrogatories that you're referring to. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I was having problems finding them myself, so --

     MS. CONBOY:  That's not very comforting.  But the December 10th, which is the Hydro One presentation to Haldimand County, we will mark as an exhibit.

Ms. Sebalj, if you could give us the number, please?     MS. SEBALJ:  K1.2. 

EXHIBIT K1.2:  HYDRO ONE PRESENTATION TO HALDIMAND COUNTY
     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Unfortunately, our colour printer 

wasn't working this morning, so this is in black and white.  I will try to get colour copies at some point, but it won't be this morning.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  There's one map in it that is easier to read if it's in colour. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Even if you just want to send that one map, if it’s not -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I've sent it electronically already.  So you have it, if you want to print it in colour yourselves.

     MS. CONBOY:  I think that will be fine. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And then I will be referring to the -- I think, to the book of materials of Hydro One.  I'm not sure if that should have an exhibit number; maybe it should.

     MS. CONBOY:  If you are going to be referring to them, why don't we start giving them exhibit numbers now? 

     MS. SEBALJ:  K1.3.  Panel, you have that book in front of you.  Thank you.  

EXHIBIT K1.3:  HYDRO ONE BOOK OF MATERIALS

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And I also, Madam Chair, may be referring to the book of materials, the document brief of Norfolk Power Distribution. 

     MS. CONBOY:  So we have not yet given your compendium an exhibit number.

So we've got the Hydro One book of materials as K1.3; correct?  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Correct. 

     MS. CONBOY:  So we have two more books of material to -- or briefing to mark.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  The only book per se that we have from School Energy Coalition is the notice of motion itself.  I’m not sure that that needs an exhibit number.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't have a book of authorities.

Everybody else printed them for me.  I --


MS. CONBOY:  Oh, I see.  Thank you.  Okay.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  It has its own sort of -- but we can mark the Norfolk Power book as K1.4. 

     MS. CONBOY:  K1.4?  Thank you.  

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  NORFOLK POWER BOOK OF MATERIALS
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Madam Chair, Members of the Panel, you will have noticed that our notice of motion is probably more thoroughly drafted than we're used to.  And there were some difficult issues, that it was a lot of interrogatories,  and so we thought it was easier for everybody if we put it all in writing.


And so as a result of that, my plan this morning is to hit the highlights in a walk-through, but not to go into every detail unless you ask me to.  And I'm sort of looking for your guidance as I'm going along, am I giving you too much detail, too little detail.  I don't want to waste your time, but I don't want to skip anything that you need. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  So why don't you go through as planned?  And then if any of us have any questions up here, we'll stop you midstream, if you don't mind, and --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, that's perfect.  Thank you.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And I have a 30-minute target, in case anybody is doing a time check. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Hopefully it will be less.


And let me start by just summarizing this at a high level.  There's really two main issues here.  And it's interesting to see, if you take a look at the Norfolk brief at tab 4, you'll see that they have provided in their brief of documents an e-mail from Mr. Barile of Essex Power that was sent to a number of LDCs, asking them if they were interested in participating as intervenors in their group.


And they had a certain logic to their intervention.  It turns out that essentially it's identical to ours, developed independently, but nonetheless, you know, unconscious parallelism, I suppose.

     Our two issues are these.  The first is that a low-productivity, high-rate utility is buying a low-rate utility, and the question is:  Will the ratepayers be harmed by that?  The commonsense answer is probably yes, but we're going to talk about the ways in which that could be possible and the information we need to determine whether that is true.


And the second is -- the second main issue is that the price is clearly well above fair market value, and our question is:  Is that predatory or otherwise contrary to the public interest for Hydro One to be paying more than a reasonable person would pay?  

     So let me talk about those two main issues.  There are also five interrogatories that don't come within either of those categories, but I'll get to those at the end.

So the first one is a low-productivity, high-rate purchaser.  And the question is:  Should we be gathering information related to that potential harm?


This relates to objective number 1 in the Board's mandate.  Objective number 1 is -- and I'm sure you have it memorized more than I do -- to protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices.


So there's no question that the rates that the Norfolk Company -- Norfolk County ratepayers will pay are relevant, because central to your mandate is protecting those ratepayers on their rates, central to your mandate in the legislation.  

     What we think is going to happen, based on the information we have -- well, we don't have all the information yet.  That's what this is all about.  But what we think is going to happen is that in 2020 the rates are going to double for those ratepayers; double.  And so we're going to end up with, instead of collecting $11 million from them, we're going to collect $22 million a year from them.  And that has already happened to about 90 LDCs that were acquired by Hydro One in 1999 and 2000.


So the original evidence in this proceeding said that Hydro One planned to harmonize these customers in 2020, and that is found at Staff No. 7, which, by the way, is at page 23 of our materials.  You don't need to turn it up, I don't think.


That plan to harmonize then raised the question:  What are the rates going to be?  Because Hydro One has two different rates.  It's based on density.  And so we needed to know, well, what density are these customers going to be in.  We know, actually, what the answer is.  Some of them are going to be in general service, and some of them are going to be in urban general.  But we don't know how many.  And indeed, Hydro One has to provide the information.  We can't do the calculation.


They have now -- Hydro One has now changed what they are saying about rates.  And now they are saying:  Well, we're not sure yet.  And in fact, if you take a look at the answers to the VECC interrogatories that are filed at K1.1, and you look at Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 5, in the response Hydro One is now saying -- and this is as of this morning -- is now saying:  Hydro One has been re-evaluating its harmonization plans with a view toward keeping them flexible enough to respond to changing circumstances.


So they are not telling you what they are going to do.  They are just telling you:  We don't know yet.  Well, that's not actually correct either, it appears.  And that's this morning, right?  Because Tuesday night, if you would like to go to K1.2, Tuesday night -- K1.2 in this presentation given to Haldimand County councillors --

this is on the Haldimand County website.  We took it off the website -- to get them to agree that Hydro One should be able to buy their utility, Hydro One says at page 5 that rates -- they're estimating that rates will be locked in for five years, just like in this case, down 1 percent, then locked in for five years, and then they will go down.


And in fact, they even give you a number, if you take a look.  The average customer will pay $147.88.  So they know what the number is going to be.  That, by the way, is considerably lower than either a UG customer or a GS customer would pay.  So there is going to be a new rate class, and they know what it is because they've calculated it, but they don't want to tell you.  And that was Tuesday night, but Thursday morning they are telling you they don't know yet.

     So -- and in fact, it's probably not possible to have this 147.88 number.  We don't know, because we don't have the information.  That's what this is all about.  But it's probably not possible, because it would have to be based on cost causality.


It's hard to imagine that in Haldimand County, which is largely rural, they can serve them cheaper than they can serve Smiths Falls.


All right.  So that's the first part of the high-rate, low-productivity issue.

The second part of it is we know that Hydro One is planning to ask for five years of big rate increases.  They've told us.  They told everybody.  They are going to file next week an application for five years, 2015 to 2019.


I don't actually know what the rate increases are.  There are people in this room who do, but I don't, because in order to hear it I would have had to sign a confidentiality agreement and then not tell you.  So I decided I couldn't do that.  

     But what we do know is it's going to be high rate increases.  It's going to be five years.  So we know that their rates are going to go up at a substantial level.


This is -- on the rate issue, this is an important case, because -- but this is one of the reasons why it's an important case.  The ratepayers of 90 utilities, including, by the way, 10 per cent of the schools in the province, already have suffered a big, big rate increase as a result of Hydro One acquisitions in 1999 and 2000.


Nobody knew at that time -- the Board, us -- we didn't know that that is what was going to happen.  And, you know, maybe we should have.  I don't know, but we didn't.  But now we do.  Now we know what their history is, and now we have no excuse if we let it happen to more ratepayers.


So all right.  I'm talking substance.  This is not really about substance here.  This is about:  Is this relevant to you?  Is it relevant to you that these rates might go up?  And I don't have to demonstrate today that rates are going to go up; all I need to demonstrate is that this information that we're asking for might say that.  It might say 10 percent a year.  We don't know.


And so the question is:  If the information we're asking for on rates, on what the future rates for these customers will be, if that information shows big rate increases, is that something you should consider?  And our submission is, yes, it should.
So that being the case, you should not fetter your discretion by refusing to go even look at the information.  It's very important that you look at it.  

You may decide later that the rate impacts are not enough to overcome some other thing, some other factor in the case.  But what you should not do is say at the outset, not knowing the facts:  We're not going to look at it.  

     So let me then go to the specific IRs that are captured in this category, if you like.  

The first two are Staff -- I don't think you have to turn each of these up.  But if you want to, please tell me to slow down and we can look at them.  The first two 

are Staff 7.2 and EBN 33, and these are asking:  What are your harmonization plans? 

And as I took you to, even this morning they 

are saying:  We don't any specific information to give you yet.  And in fact, what they want you to do is they want you to accept that they will simply tell you later what they want to do.  And you can decide then whether it's okay.  In our mind, that's not good enough; that’s not good enough for two reasons.

Number one, you should know what is going to happen to these customers before you say they should move to another distributor.  Number one.  

And number two, Hydro One already knows, as we saw from their Haldimand County presentation.  

     The second category of IRs is SEC 1 and 2 and EBN 37.  And these ask some specific questions about what Hydro One rate classes would apply to these customers.  The reason, as I indicated earlier, is that these customers could be in one of two class -- two levels of classes, urban and non-urban.  And we have a pretty good idea of what we think those numbers are.  But since there are very big differences, we need Hydro One to tell us.  

It's not complicated; it’s a density issue.  This is something that, presumably, in deciding to pay $93 million to buy this utility, they probably figured this out, how much are we going to get in rates later.  And if they 

didn't, you have to wonder about their competence.  Surely this is something they should know.  

Anyway, whether they have done it or not, this is something -– this is information that they should provide 

to you, so that you can determine what, in the current status quo, in the current situation, what would their Hydro One rates be.  

     The third category of these is SEC 3(c), SEC 4(c) and CCC 3.  And that is -- we're asking:  What are your proposed rate increases for 2015 to 2019?  And what they answered is:  Well, we don't know yet.  

But we know they know now, because they are filing next week.  So unless they are going to do a lot of work between now and next week, probably they know exactly what the rate increases are going to be in the next five 

years.  

     Indeed, I think it has already been approved by their board of directors, but I don't know that for sure.  They can tell you, I'm sure.  

And since, barring any new application by Hydro One, these are the rates that Norfolk customers will end up paying, you should know what they are.  

     The fourth category is represented by EBN 5, EBN 6 and EBN 30.  These are questions about controlling costs, a hot topic this week, as we've seen with OPG.  What we know is that Hydro One is the least productive -– has, for the last 10 years, been the least productive utility in the province -- electricity distributor, sorry.  

We know that because the Board just went through a 

whole exercise to determine total factor productivity, and had to exclude Hydro One and Toronto Hydro, because they were outliers.  

     So they may have a plan to fix that.  And it may be that when you see that plan, you'll say:  We're not too worried about the fact that you’ve been unproductive in the past, because we see now that you’ve got a good plan to fix it, so the Norfolk customers will be okay in the end; by the time this reaches them in 2020, you'll have everything under control.  

If that's true, that's great.  But you need the information to conclude that.  You can't simply imagine that it might be true, as I'm sure Hydro One would like you to do. 

     The next one is EBN 22, and EBN 22 is a question asking:  What are the economies of scale that you are going to get, Hydro One, with this acquisition?  And the reason that's relevant is because Hydro One claims that's one of the benefits of the transaction, is there will be economies of scale.  

So it's legitimate to say:  You claim there will be economies of scale; show us what they will be.  

     And finally, the final one is EBN 4, which, by the way, when I read this interrogatory, I kicked myself.  Why didn't we ask this interrogatory?  I felt bad.  

And basically, it is:  How much did the first 90 acquisitions suffer?  How much did it hurt them to be acquired by Hydro One?  And asks for information on what the rate increases were, what the rate levels were before and after, et cetera, and things like that.  

This is a -- in legal terms, you would say this is a 

question about a history of similar behaviour, and you ask if they’ve done it 90 times one way, then maybe you should be wondering are they going to do it the same way this time.  And if not, can you tell us why it's going to be different, Hydro One?  

     This is really probative because people usually don't change.  If they do things a certain way, they usually continue to do things a certain way.  

     So those are the interrogatories that relate to the 

acquisition by a low-productivity, high-rate LDC of other LDCs that are lower-rate and higher-productivity.  And our submission is that they are all relevant to the Board's objective number 1, protecting consumers with respect to prices.  

     The second -- I think that's the easier of the two issues that we're dealing with.  The second is the question of the price, which we've referred to as predatory pricing.

But we don't actually know whether it's predatory pricing, and I'll come to that in a second.  We're hypothesizing that it might be.  

     Hydro One's position appears to be that this is a free 

market.  If other LDCs want to offer more for Norfolk, or Haldimand or anybody else, they can.  And they get to be the buyers, if they offer more.  We won fair and square, we offered more; we get to buy this utility.  

     This is -- there's a show on TV called Storage Wars, and they start with -- the auctioneer says:  Whoever has the most money in their pocket today can certainly buy it.

And that's what Hydro One is saying.  They are saying:  We have the most money.  We get to buy these utilities.

Well, that's actually not how the free market works.  But in any case, this is not a free market; this is a 

supervised market.  The Board is given the responsibility to supervise MAADs transactions.

And so the fact that Hydro One says -- comes and offers more is not the only factor.  That's only okay if it's still in the public interest to allow the transaction to proceed.  

     So what do we know right now?  What we know -- before these interrogatories are answered, what we know is that the price is very high and that's just -- we say that because it's just obvious to everybody in the industry that the price is very high.  

We know that Essex and others think that the price is –- and I’m quoting their Mr. Barile's e-mail -– "artificially inflated."  So again, that's their opinion, but that's certainly what Mr. Barile thinks.  

And we know that Hydro One admits in Haldimand that they want to pay more than fair market value, and I take you to Exhibit K1.2 at page 4.  In this, they say that 

the value to you, the shareholder, which is the net present value of interest and dividends, is between 8 and $34 million.  The standalone business value -- that is the fair market value of the business -- is 44 to $54 million.  We're offering you 69 –- and in fact, I’m not sure whether it’s 69 or 77, because on the first page they say 77.  So I don't actually know what the prices are they are offering.  It looks like it's 69, but -- in any case, it's clearly more than fair market value as they determine it.  Hydro One says:  We're paying you more than fair market value.

     So if the price is very high, why does that matter?  Well, there's two reasons why it might matter.

The first reason is that it may be that higher-rate utilities can pay more.  That is, if you are a purchaser and you have higher rates, you may be able to actually afford to pay more to buy another utility, because in 2020, if Horizon bought this utility, they would be able to get 12 million a year in rates once they harmonize, but Hydro One buys this utility, they get 22 million a year from those customers.


We don't know whether that is the actual number.  Those are the numbers that we've estimated, but of course we've asked for them.  

     So the -- you have to ask yourself the question:  Could it be in the public interest that if you have higher rates, you have an advantage in purchasing other utilities?

Surely that can't be right.  Surely that's the opposite of what you want.  You want the more efficient utilities to be the acquirers, not the less efficient ones.


So this is -- and we've asked some questions to try to get at this question of:  Is this an advantage because of higher rates?  We don't know whether that's true.  But you are entitled to the information so you can then make that determination and then make the public policy decision:  Is that okay?  

     Then -- because this is not just a question of saying:  Higher-rate utilities are probably bad acquirers.  This is a question of saying:  Should our policy favour them?  Because if it's about just price, it may be that your policy or your approach to MAADs would favour the higher-price utilities.  That wouldn't necessarily be good.


And the second reason is that -- and this is the predatory pricing question -- is that overpaying sends a message to other acquirers:  Don't bother.  We'll always outbid you.  That's what happened in 1999 and 2000.  You saw what happened in the industry.  They were the ones bought basically everything.  And other companies tried.  Companies with lots of money tried.  Enbridge tried and failed, and others.  They couldn't, because Hydro One was willing to offer more. 

     In –- "predatory pricing" is normally used to describe a vendor of goods.  And a vendor of goods is predatory if they price low so that their competitors, other vendors, can't compete.  They would lose money.  And you can knock other vendors out of the marketplace by offering a price that's too low if you're a vendor.

Now, if you are a purchaser, the opposite is true.  If you offer too high, you can knock the other purchasers out of the marketplace by your predatory pricing approach.


So we don't know whether in fact their strategy is a predatory strategy, because we don't have the information.  We've asked for it.  We want to see what their strategy is, how they got to their number, $93 million.  How did they get to that?  And whether they have a strategy or a policy in place that is specifically related to knocking other people out of the market.


We've asked those questions, and they say those questions -- answers to those questions are not relevant.  That is, you should not know the answers to those questions.  If those answers say:  We have a strategy to offer enough money so that nobody else bids, says that in so many words, you're not allowed to know that, they say.  

     Well, our answer is, objective number 2 in your Act mandates you -- requires you to essentially promote productivity and cost-effectiveness in the industry.


I guess the other way of -- the best way of looking at that is you're required to oversee this marketplace in the public interest.  And clearly, if Hydro One is the purchaser whenever they want to be the purchaser, because they -- either because they have high rates or because they have the bigger wallet, or both, then you have to ask the question:  Does that promote productivity?  Well, clearly not.  They are the least productive.  Does that promote cost-effectiveness?  Clearly not.  They have well-documented cost-control problems.


So in both cases the opposite is true.  In both cases if the -- if they are allowed to price in a predatory way to knock other people out of the marketplace, then you're going contrary to your second objective in the Act.  

     So my friend may well ask:  Well, why do you think this -- our pricing is predatory?  What evidence do you have to show this?  And the answer is, in this hearing, we don't know whether it's predatory.  It might be.  If it is, it's relevant.  If it isn't, that's fine, but until we get the information we've asked, we can't determine that and the Board can't determine that.


So if my friend is saying:  Why do you think it's predatory, what they are saying really is:  You're not allowed to have the facts to know whether that's true.  You shouldn't ask for that information.  

     Now, Hydro One has said:  Look it, we just exercised our business judgment.  We set the price based on our business judgment.  If their business judgment was anti-competitive -- and this is the question you have to ask yourself -- if their business judgment was either intentionally or accidentally anti-competitive, is that fact relevant to your determination of this application?  Because if it's relevant, then you need evidence to determine that, and then that means you need the answer to these interrogatories.  If it's not relevant, if their -- whether or not their business judgment is anti-competitive is not something you should consider, if that's what you determine, then you don't need the answers to these questions.  But that would be, in our submission, fettering your discretion in a very serious and negative way.


So all right.  I just want to -- before I get through the individual IRs, which won't take me a minute, I just want to say that, you know, Hydro One is offering well over fair market value.  We know this from Haldimand, and anybody looking at the Norfolk situation knows that 93 is 20, $30 million high.


So in that circumstance, what owner of a utility would not sell to them?  Think about it rationally now.  You're the owner of a utility.  Hydro One is offering the best price you'll ever get for this.  You'll never get this much money for it again, because they are way above fair market value.


So take a look at page 3 of their presentation to Haldimand.  And at page 3, you see that in the bottom left they are proposing to buy Norfolk.  That's there.  Haldimand is bottom centre.  That's the one they are proposing to buy in this presentation for $69 million.  You've got Brantford Power, Niagara Peninsula, Welland, Grimsby.  Why would any of those -- the owners of those utilities say no if they are going to offer 20 or 30 percent above fair market value?  Why would they say no?  It doesn't make sense.


This is the chance -- if you have a $500,000 house and somebody comes to you and says:  I'll offer you $750,000, you've got to at least consider it.


So -- but then why stop?  Why would it be just the small ones?  If they went to the City of Hamilton and the City of St. Catharines and said:  We'll give you 30 percent more than fair market value for the utility, at least they'd have to think about it.  And Cambridge and Guelph, Burlington, why not?  Is this consolidation -- is this the consolidation that the Board thinks is a good idea?


So this is a serious issue; if Hydro One is pricing in a predatory way, this is a very serious issue.  And this is exactly the reason why the marketplace is supervised by this Board, so that things that are harmful to the marketplace, so that things that would hurt the ratepayers in the long term by Hydro One owning all the distribution franchises, can be stopped.  

     So let me talk briefly about the specific IRs that relate -- most of them relate to whether the price makes any sense.  And the first batch is SEC 5, EBN 28 and EBN 43, which deal with business judgment, and SEC 18 and EBN 46, which deal with valuations.  

And basically we're asking:  You say you had -- you 

exercised your business judgment.  You say it's legitimate, that your price is not wonky; it's a reasonable business judgment.  Show us.  If that's true, how hard is it to show us?  

     Then SEC 7 ask specifically about the cost of the rate freeze, because the rate freeze is going to cost them about $2.3 million over five years.  How are you going to get that money back?  And if they are going to get the money back by simply recovering it from the Norfolk ratepayers, maybe that’s not so big a benefit anymore.  

If they are going to eat it, that's fine.  Show us that you are going to just eat it, you’re never going to get this back from anybody, which would be hard to imagine, but let's say.  

     SEC 6 and EBN 3 says:  How did they recover the cost of previous acquisitions?  They paid or -- they paid over price generally for many, many LDCs over the last 15 years.  How have they recovered those prices?

We looked on their balance sheet to see whether all those purchase premiums are sitting there like a lump on their balance sheet, weighing them down.  The answer 

is no, so where are they?  Where did they get the money?  Because they are not supposed to recover it from the ratepayers, right?  So where did they get it from?  

You know, it may be they have a good answer.  If they have a good answer, great.  Then just show us what the answer is.  But don't say:  You can't know it.  

     CCC 10, another one of those questions that I wish I’d asked, asked:  Do they have an acquisition policy?  If they have a policy on acquisitions, you should know what that is.  If it's contrary to the public interest, you should be in a position to tell them:  Hey, this is not a good idea.  Or alternatively, if it shows that they’re thinking it through and it's a sensible approach, then that's going to ameliorate your concerns about the other things we're raising.  But you need to know that.  

     SEC 8 and EBN 53 ask for the RFP documents and the bids, not the details of who bid.  The idea here in 

these questions is to find out how much of an outlier is Hydro One in this.  If their $93 million is a million dollars more than the next bid, that changes the view of whether its predatory pricing. 

But if they offered 93 and the next offer is 60, and everybody else is between 60 and 65, then you think to yourself:  Whoa, that's weird.  And you would ask them to give you an explanation.  

EBN 55, 56 and 57 ask questions about government approvals.  And this is really –- you know, you have to assess whether purchases like this are in the public interest, and you are not required to follow government policy on this unless you're directed to.  

In fact, you're not really allowed to refuse to consider it yourselves.  You have to -- you have to consider it yourselves, even if the government has a sort of inclination and direction, unless they give 

you a specific directive do it this way.  

     But clearly, the Board is influenced by the direction the government is going, and the Board, I think, shares the government's view that rational consolidation of the distributor sector is a good idea.  And the Board said so in a number of cases.  

And so Hydro One has wrapped themselves up in this government policy and said:  Well, you know, we're just doing what the government told everybody to do.  We’re consolidating.  

In fact, the Norfolk materials include a speech from 

Minister Chiarelli, essentially saying exactly that:  This is our policy.

So fine.  Has the government approved this or not?  Yes or no?  It's simple.  If they have, maybe that is relevant to you.  If they have not, if Hydro One didn't even tell them about it, if there is no strategy that is government-approved, then maybe that's relevant, too.  

     The next category is CCC 6 and EBN 54, and that's the 

position provided to the board of directors on this acquisition.  And I'd set aside the confidentiality question.  There is clearly the potential for confidentiality issues in information provided to a 

board of directors.  

But aside from that, what's the secret?  What 

could they possibly have told their board of directors that you shouldn't be allowed to see?  So there's no issue of relevance there.  Clearly, this has to be relevant, because it was relevant to their board in deciding that it was okay to buy this utility.  

So the question only is:  Is there some reason why their board of directors should see it, and you should not?  

The next category is CCC 15, CCC 9 -– sorry, SEC 15 -- I get them confused all the time -- CCC 9, EBN 14, 15, 20 and 21.  

     These are related to the same basic point, which is Hydro One claims that there will be productivity gains as a result of this acquisition.  And so these questions, in various ways, ask:  What are the productivity gains?  Tell us what they are.  Presumably, you, Hydro One, wouldn't say they are productivity gains unless you had done some sort of analysis.  Well, show us the analysis.  Show us how 

you are going to save money.  Tell us.

No, no, that's not relevant, they say. 

     Finally, a whole bunch of interrogatories, Staff 4.2, VECC 2(a), EBN 2, 15, 16, 17, 24 –- this is just for the transcript -- 25, 26, 27 and 45 all deal with questions of how are you going to recover specific costs associated with this transaction, because the cost of a transaction is not just the price.  There are other costs associated with  transactions.  In fact, if you take a look at the Haldimand material, you'll see there's a number of commitments made, and those commitments all cost money.  So they are 

all part of the cost acquisition, and so it is legitimate to know.  

So do you have a plan for how you are going to deal with this, that shows your business judgment is reasonable?   

     Finally, let me just deal with the five uncategorized IRs, and then I'll be done.

The first is Staff 9.2, which deals with US GAAP, and they have now, I think, answered that by saying they want Norfolk to go on the US GAAP, too.  I don't know how Norfolk does, but that's fine.  I don't have a problem with that.  As far as I'm concerned, it's been answered.  

SEC 14 asks them how is their commitment to spend 

money on capital binding, because it's in an agreement with the vendor who is going to be gone.  The vendor is the county.  They will no longer have an interest after the deal is done.  So we just want to know.  How is it binding?  How do the ratepayers get protection from that capital commitment?  

SEC 16 asks about the tax impacts on cost, and I think they just misunderstood this question.  The question was not tax sharing, tax savings sharing.  The question was:  In many past acquisitions of a small company, they lose some of the tax benefits, special tax credits, small 

business deduction, et cetera, which means that the costs associated with that enterprise go up, because it's owned by a larger company.  So we're just asking:  How much is it?  Sometimes it can be a lot, sometimes it can be nothing; at least we want to know.  

     SEC 19 asked a specific question about Brad Randall, the former president.  And Hydro One again, I think, misunderstood the question.  The intention of the question was that we want to know whether he's prohibited from being a witness by the terms of his departure.  

We don't want to talk to him unless we know it's 

okay.  We know Brad; he's a decent guy and cares about the

ratepayers, and we might want to talk to him.  But we don't want to do that if it puts him in an impossible position.

So we asked the question:  Is he under an obligation?  Just tell us.  If he is, we won't talk to him.  If he isn't, we will.  

     And finally EBN 44, this is a very interesting one.  This is a question of how are the Hydro One customers going to be served with the Dundas office moving to Simcoe.

But it's now more complicated than that, because if you take a look at page 3 of the Haldimand presentation, the Dundas OC apparently is going to move to Simcoe under the Norfolk deal.  But if you look at this, the Dundas OC is actually moving to Dunnville in the Haldimand County area. 

So now it's even more important that we have information on this, if they are moving the same office to two different places.  Are they splitting it up?  Are they -– you know, how is this going to work?  And certainly the 

Board should know, if this means that there's going to be actually increased spending because they have to put an office in every acquisition location.  

     All right.  The end result of this is that this is the biggest and least productive LDC in the province.  They are embarking on a new round of acquisitions.  They have said so.  It's in their evidence.  And frankly, they are waving around their big wallet.


So your job is to supervise that process, and you

have to ask the sort of general question:  Is that in the public interest?  Will the ratepayers benefit from that or will they be harmed from it?  And they can be harmed in two main ways.

One is these individual ratepayers are going to have higher rates in the future, much higher rates in the future, which we think is what's going to happen, but until we get the information we don't know.


And it may be that the marketplace, and so all the ratepayers in the province, will be harmed by one elephant -- not meant in a bad way; elephants are good -- one elephant being able to make all the acquisitions, so that the consolidation of the industry is not rational.  

     So these are the -- to answer those questions you need the answers to these disputed IRs.  You may determine once you get the facts, on the facts, on the evidence, you may determine that it's still okay for them to purchase.


The position that they are in right now, though, is they are saying it doesn't matter what those documents and answers say.  You shouldn't look at them.

That's not right.  So today we're only asking for a proper record, so that you can make those determinations.

And those are our submissions, unless you have any questions.  


QUESTIONS BY BOARD PANEL:
     MS. FRY:  One question for you, Mr. Shepherd.  So you are expressing the view that in deciding this application, when it comes to that point, the Board will be influenced by government policy.  And of course, as you know, the Board operates within the four corners of its legal responsibilities under legislation.

So can you just make the linkages for us, which provisions of our legislation would lead to the conclusion that in deciding this application, we should be looking at government policy?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I -- yes, if I seem to be saying that, I apologize.  I didn't intend to be saying that you should be influenced by government policy.  In fact, I'm the last person to agree to that.


I raise that in a defensive way, because I see the Norfolk materials with Mr. Chiarelli's speech, and I see the tone of the application, which is:  We're just doing what the government wants us to do.

And I'm saying:  Okay, that's fine.  If that's true, then one of the pieces of information we need to know is:  What did the government tell you?


But no, we think that you have to independent -- to exercise your independent judgment within the objectives that the legislature has given to you. 

     MS. FRY:  Thank you for clarifying that.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  We have no more 

questions.


Mr. O'Leary, are you ready to go next?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. O'LEARY:
     MR. O'LEARY:  I am, Madam Chair.  I will have some very brief comments.

Let me start by indicating our support for the submissions of my friend.  My friend has referred to a number of the interrogatories that were asked by EBN, and we are requesting the relief as sought in the notice of motion.


I thought I should speak to a couple matters that -- first of all, the nature of the test itself.  And my friends have filed a good amount of material that deals with the no-harm test and refer to the combined proceeding and the actual cases that were determined at the time.


They do that in a way, if I may summarize it, they're trying to take a very narrow interpretation of the test that you should apply, in effect coming in and saying:  Well, we have promised the ratepayers a rate freeze for five years in Norfolk and a 1 percent reduction.  Therefore, there can't be any harm.


Our submission, Madam Chair, is that in fact the cases suggest that you must go beyond that simple assertion that there is no harm, in terms of the short-term rate impacts to Norfolk ratepayers.  Your obligation, we submit, is to drill down into the evidence and ask the obvious and reasonable questions that follow such an assertion, is:  Who is going to pay for that 1 percent reduction?


Norfolk was before the Board not all that long ago, and it was a cost of service application in 2012 to determine that the just and reasonable rates in 2012 generated the rates that they are currently paying.  To say that you are going to reduce them by 1 percent, hold them flat for five years, is, we suggest, counterintuitive to just and reasonable rates.  There must be someone paying for that reduction.  Who is going to be that?  Is it going to be the Norfolk ratepayers, or is it going to be the Hydro One ratepayers?


So we start there by saying the test not only applies to the impact of Norfolk but also the impact on the Hydro One ratepayers.  

     And indeed -- and I do not believe that today is the day to go into in-depth discussion about the no-harm test and through all the case law, because that, in our submission, is more intended for when you have the evidence before you, then we can say that:  Here is what we have been told.  This is the evidence from Hydro One, and this is how it applies to the no-harm test.


But if I may, indeed the Board has gone beyond the narrow interpretation that my friends, the Applicants, are suggesting to you is the appropriate test.  In both the Toronto Hydro street lighting case and in the Union Gas Dawn Gateway limited partnership proceeding, they were both MAADs applications.


Now, those cases, the Board went beyond the simple "is there any harm to the ratepayers," and looked at other issues.  And in fact, we did leave a copy of the decision with you on your dais.  I don't intend to take you to it in any great detail, but point out at page 13 there is a list of the factors which the Board considered in the Union Gas proceeding, which are certainly beyond and broader than what my friends are suggesting to you is the test.  And the factors that they applied in the Toronto street lighting case are set out at page 17.


Indeed, in that latter case the Board found that there was going to be an impact on rates.  In other words, Toronto Hydro ratepayers were going to be paying more, yet they found that in that instance, because of the unique circumstances, it was going to be permitted.


In the Dawn Union case, they required the applicant in fact to pay for the unused capacity of the pipeline over the years that it was in the hands of the applicant.


So the Board drilled down into the evidence and made specific findings as to the nature of the harm based upon the facts in that case.  And what we're suggesting to you today, Madam Chair, is that the test that should be applied in this case, because of the facts in the case, because it is unusual relative to past cases -- and I think you'll -- this -- maybe the first time won't be the last time you've heard, but -- we'll hear this, is that most of the prior MAADs applications have involved a situation where the lower-cost utility's acquiring the higher-cost utility.  So you haven't had to get into some of the other issues that are being raised in this proceeding.  To limit it to the test that was used in prior proceedings, which aren't the same as this one, we submit, would be inappropriate.  

     I would also go one step further, Madam Chair, and say that the no-harm test does not detract from the obligation on an applicant in a proceeding.  First of all, the applicant is aware that the onus is on the applicants to demonstrate that the application put forward is in the public interest, as determined by no-harm test, which of course is informed by your statutory objectives.


That onus exists, and requires them to file evidence which is sufficient for you to be satisfied that they 

have complied with their onus and met the objectives.  

     In this case, the Applicants have made a number of assertions.  And as Mr. Shepherd referred to, they are proposing a number of things: rate reductions, rate freezes, moves from one service area to another in terms of their business centre.


The fact is they're alleging that there is going to be efficiencies gained and savings generated by the acquisition.  Well, in every other proceeding where an applicant makes such assertions, they are required to satisfy the onus to file sufficient evidence to show that what they are alleging is credible and something that is reliable for you to make a decision.


It is also standard that the parties to the proceeding would then be entitled to test that evidence, to ask questions about it.  To simply say that, no, the no-harm test is in effect a shield that prevents us or allows us to avoid the tough questions is, we submit, simply improper and contrary to normal procedure here.


And in effect, if you sustain the refusal by my friends to answer the various interrogatories from the parties who are testing these assertions about efficiencies, testing the appropriateness of who is going to pay for the rate reductions and for the moves of the business centre, then you are in effect cutting off your own ability to determine the reliability and credibility of their evidence.  

     Just as a simple example, in EBN Interrogatory No. 13 we asked -- and we referenced the OEB's Electricity Yearbook and we determined a price per customer for Hydro One for their own OM&A, and we compared it to Norfolk's and we said there's about a hundred dollar per customer gap, which multiplied by the number of customers works out to about $2 million a year.  How do you generate efficiencies that will ultimately recover that difference in cost?  And they declined to provide the information.  

Our submission, Madam Chair, is we don't understand how the Board could make a decision in this matter and determine whether or not there really is a harm, if ultimately all you have before you is an assertion there will be efficiencies and savings generated, but actually no 

evidence of how they are going to do it.  

Obviously, as my friend has suggested, they must have thought about it.  Otherwise, it would be questionable 

why you are there in the first place.  But certainly, we submit, those series of questions which relate to how they are going to actually generate the efficiencies and savings are very relevant.  

     My friend also spoke to those questions which relate to current rates, the rates that Hydro One will be forecasting over the next five years with their filing next week, and how Hydro One has now -- the Applicants now have changed the application such that it's no longer a certainty that there's harmonization in five years' time, but now it's uncertain.  

And that may be the case.  They may be saying there are a number of options that are available, and our 

submission is that it is appropriate for some further questions to be asked in the interrogatories about these other options.  

We did not ask questions about the other options in the first go-round, because those options weren't on the table.  But now they are.  

But one thing is for certain:  Harmonization remains an option.  So as it remains an option, then it is 

clearly relevant, in our submission, that questions about what are your rates now, what are your forecast rates in 2020, and what are -- what will the impact be, given what the density of the customers in Norfolk will be in 2020?  

So if -- and I can't tell you, because I don't know what all the density figures are there.  But outside of the City or Town of Simcoe, it's my belief that a substantial number of Norfolk customers are truly rural and they would fall into that truly rural residential rate that Hydro One has for its other ratepayers.  

Questions that are appropriate relate to how should 

they be paying anything different than the current Hydro One rural ratepayers.  And we submit the Board would benefit from knowing what percentage of the Norfolk rural ratepayers –- what percentage of the Norfolk ratepayers are in that rural category.  

It's an area that we, again, didn't receive a response, and we submit that these types of questions are relevant and necessary for your determination in this matter. 

     As I said again at the outset, this case is somewhat unique.  And as I have reviewed the various MADs decisions over the years, the preponderance of the Board's  consideration has been to objective 1, which relates to the harm to ratepayers in terms of the rates.

And there hasn't been as great an attention spent by the Board on its second objective, and that shouldn't be surprising for the reason I gave earlier, and that is because the majority of the situations involved a lower-cost utility acquiring a higher-cost utility.

But in this case, it's reversed.  And we submit that that, more than ever, means that objective 2 in this proceeding becomes a very relevant consideration, and whether or not this acquisition is going to promote economic efficiency in the distribution industry.  

In our view, the rational consolidation, which appears to be the government policy -- and indeed we thought also a general favoured direction of the Board -- are consistent with that very statutory objective, and that is the promotion of the economic efficiency of the distribution industry.  

If this acquisition is not viewed by you as being economically rational, then it is certainly not 

economically efficient.  And those questions therefore that go to whether or not in fact it meets that objective are most relevant, and my friend has directed you to a good number of them that relate.  

     If, as a result of the answers that are received, it is determined that there is an element of anti-competitive behaviour or predatory pricing, we submit that that is contrary to your second statutory objective and is a basis to allow and to require Hydro One to answer the questions that have been asked.  

As my friend indicated, some of the questions asked related to whether or not the government is aware of this particular acquisition.  Well, they may be generally aware of the acquisition, but are they aware of the details?  Are they aware of the size of the premium that is apparently going to be taken on and paid for by Hydro One, the parent, and who ultimately is responsible for that?  

And we believe that it is part of the economic -- your determination about the economic efficiency and that 

rationalization of LDCs in the province, to determine whether or not the funds are in fact being, in effect, redirected from monies that would otherwise be made available to the government and, in effect, it's an indirect taxation.  

These are questions that we believe are relevant for the purposes of objective number 2, and support Schools in this motion.  

     Those are my submissions, Madam Chair.  If there are any questions, I would be delighted to field them.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Leary.  We have no questions.  

Ms. Girvan, how long do you think you'll be?  I'm 

just trying to gauge whether we should break now or -- 

     MS. GIRVAN:  I'll be very brief, so I’d be prepared to go ahead now. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Please proceed.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. GIRVAN:
     MS. GIRVAN:  In large measure, we're supporting the submissions made by Mr. Shepherd.  And I’d just like to 

take this really from a high-level approach, in saying that it's our view that in assessing these applications, the Board must consider its objectives, and the first one is to protect consumers with respect to prices.  

Also we think that the Board, in assessing these applications, has to consider the public interest.  

So today we're not arguing the substance of the applications, but rather what information is relevant to assessing the applications.  

And I would just go, again at a high level, to what 

we think is particularly important.  And I refer to CCC No. 3, and that goes to what rates Norfolk customers will pay in five years.  We know what they are going to pay in the first five years, but after that -- going to what Mr. Shepherd said -- I think it's relevant in terms of what plans Hydro One has for those customers.  

In CCC No. 6, we think what's relevant is the 

information provided to the board of directors, and that goes to Hydro One's strategy and reasons for undertaking the transaction, and particularly whether they are reasons that are in the best interest of their customers.  

With respect to CCC No. 9, again, this is what's in the best interest of Hydro One's customers, and we think that information is relevant and should be answered.  

And with respect to CCC No. 10, which is the 

written policy guiding the LDC acquisitions, we think that 

that is important in -- very important, from your perspective, in assessing what Hydro One's objectives are, and whether those objectives are consistent with the interests of its customers.  

Those are my submissions.  Thanks.

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  It's 11:00 o'clock, or -- I've got different clocks all over, different times over here.  It's 11:00 o'clock.  We do have a hard stop at about 10 to 12:00 today.  I'm not sure how people are feeling, whether we should take a break.

I know we've got Mr. Janigan still to give him some -- his submissions.  Mr. Janigan, how long will you be?  

     MR. JANIGAN:  I doubt if I’ll be much more than five minutes, Madam Chair.

     MS. CONBOY:  Why don't we proceed with you?  And then maybe we'll take a short break.  Please go ahead.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. JANIGAN:
MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

In brief, VECC supports the motion of SEC with respect to the seeking of information to allow the intervenors in this case to take an appropriate position vis-a-vis the public interest and the interests of the constituents in relation to the proposed merger.


And we would point out first that this motion takes place in the discovery phase of this proceeding, and while there is a necessity of relevance associated with the information sought by any interrogatory, it goes without saying that in circumstances where the information sought is -- falls within an area of dispute or a grey area where in fact it can well be argued that it may be relevant to the determination of the issue, the issue should be resolved in favour of disclosure at first instance.


In this case, the Applicants have the opportunity in the final result to argue exclusion of any such evidence as irrelevant in relation to the ultimate judgment.  However, without the evidence that is being sought today, it is very difficult for the motion applicants and their supporters to be able to correctly assess the impact of the merger in relation to the effect on rates and access to service by their constituents.


So it's our respective view, and viewing the totality of what's been presented, that the Board should resolve any issue where it is not completely evident that the information sought is irrelevant in favour of disclosure.  

     Second of all, the issue that arises as a result of the action or the proposal of the merger Applicants is that -- is it enough to provide a 1 percent decrease in rates and a rate freeze of 5 percent to insulate these Applicants from inspection for the period beyond the five years?


And effectively, that is the assertion that's put forward, as we believe, in the context of the application.  I would note that this particular formula of a 1 percent decrease and a 5 percent rate freeze, whatever the merits, is not something that is prescribed in any particular legislation as being sufficient to absolve the merger Applicants from the test of no harm or the test of economic efficiency.


And we would respectfully state that it is just another piece of information that will go to the Board determination of the final result, whether or not there is going to be harm to customers in the form of increased rates or access to service that may result as a result of their plans.


And we would submit that much of the information sought today in this motion goes to proving or disproving that hypothesis, which is really central to what the Board's determination of the application should be.  

     Finally, in respect to matters associated with the price and what has been paid, I think it's important to separate the issues associated with price from the language of the Board, particularly in consolidated decisions associated with the price.


The situation here is not so much that the bargain is attached -- the bargain is being attacked for being too high or too low.  The fact of the matter is the price is such that it raises questions associated with economic efficiency and potentially anti-competitive behaviour on the part of the Applicants.


This goes beyond the simple idea that the ratepayers or the constituents of the particular utility that is being swallowed are upset or have some concern associated with the bargain made.  It doesn't deal with the bargain; it deals effectively with what the impact of that price may be on the result, which includes economic efficiency, harm to the ratepayers, and potentially anti-competitive behaviour.

     So it's our view that under these kind of considerations the information sought today in this motion is appropriate, and the Board should give effect to SEC's prayer for relief.


Thank you.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  The Panel has no questions for you, Mr. Janigan.  Two matters of process, though.  The first one is:  Did you get via e-mail the interrogatory responses?  

     MR. JANIGAN:  I did, Madam Chair. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Great.  And the second one is:  Will you be staying on the line after the break?

     MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, I will.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  So I won't touch anything that will potentially disconnect you, but we will rise now for 15 minutes.

I appreciate that the next section is going to be somewhat shorter, because of the commitments that the Panel has, but if that -- I'm looking at the clock here.  If that brings us to 20 after, that will give you half an hour.  Is that going to interrupt you in the middle of your submission?

       MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I can certainly try and have my remarks organized so that, if need be, there will be a pause at the 30-minute mark. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  And thank goodness I have Ms. Fry next to me, because she also reminds me that Board Staff is -- will likely be wanting to go next.  Is that the right order?

     MS. SEBALJ:  No.  I --

     MS. CONBOY:  You'll be going after? 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, I had thought that we would go before reply, so after the Applicants. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Sorry, so you'll be fine with the time that we've got now?

     MR. NETTLETON:  The hard break at 10 after 12:00 would be for how long?  Or, sorry, 10 to 12:00.


MS. CONBOY:  10 to 12:00.


MR. NETTLETON:  When would we be coming back?


MS. CONBOY:  Until 1:15.


MR. NETTLETON:  Perfect.  Thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  So we'll see you at 20 after.  

     --- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.

     --- Upon resuming at 11:25 a.m.

     MS. CONBOY:  Now, I was -- before the break, I was looking to you, Mr. Nettleton.  But perhaps -- I'm not sure what order you want to -- whether Mr. Vellone will go first, or yourself.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. NETTLETON:
     MR. NETTLETON:  We had that coin toss, Madam Chair, and I was on the receiving end of it.  So I'm not going to say whether it's a loss or a win, but you get to hear from me first.

     Good morning, Panel.  My name is Gord Nettleton again, and I appear on behalf of Hydro One and Hydro One Networks Inc.

My submissions this morning are in respect of the motion that has been made by the School Energy Coalition, and as you would expect, my clients object to the motion, oppose the motion.  

What I'm proposing to do this morning is first provide you with a bit of a roadmap, which I think is necessary in light of the fact that there are some 51 responses that have been impugned by my friend and his client, who I will refer to in this proceeding as SEC.  

The roadmap is really this.  The first part is a discussion about what this motion is about, and what it's not about.  The second area really follows from the first, and that is that the essence of this motion is the proper test to be used and applied in applications made pursuant to section 86, namely the no-harm test.  

So we will discuss it a bit with you, the elements of the test, and how its been interpreted by the Board, and also how it should apply to the motion in these circumstances.  

     And then with that understanding, what we will do is then turn to the impugned information requests, and demonstrate why the responses provided were in keeping with the issue intended for consideration in this proceeding, namely consideration of the no-harm test.  

     I think at that point we would then turn to and provide some remarks in reply to my friends who have gone before me this morning, and make some observations to the remarks that they have made.  So with that -- 

     MS. CONBOY:  Can I just -- sorry.  I forgot to make 

sure Mr. Janigan is still with us on the other line, on the other end of the line.  Are you still there --

     MR. JANIGAN:  I am still here, yes. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

Please proceed.  

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  In light of time, I think if I can get through the -- what I would call setting the table for a more lengthy discussion of the individual IRs.

The sound of angels...

     MS. CONBOY:  Did you plan that?  Mr. Janigan, I'm not sure if you are listening to music while you are listening to us. 

     MR. JANIGAN:  No.  This is not my fault, Madam Chair. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  It dates me a bit, but in National Energy Board proceedings we always used to have to say to people on the line:  Please put yourself on mute.

So my hope is that we'll get through the first part, or setting the table with the discussion of what this motion is about and what the test is all about.  And then after the break, we'll get into a more lengthy discussion about the individual responses.  

And again, part of the complexity here is the fact that there are 51 information request responses that have been cited as requiring additional information, or better -- further and better responses.  And we are obliged, in my respectful submission, to point out to you why the responses in each individual case have been responded to appropriately.  

So it will be a bit of a chore to go through those individual responses.  But I think, respectfully, it is necessary and in my client's best interest. 

     Without further ado, let me make some initial remarks about what this motion is about, and what it's not about.  

     The motion on its face has been made without stating exactly which Rule it is being made pursuant to the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure.  It states that it's a motion for further and better responses, and as such, we assume it's being made pursuant to Rules 2903 and 2904 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure.  

The motion, at paragraph 1, sets out the impugned responses.  All together, there are, as I said, 51 challenged responses, but only 13 of these were 

asked by the moving party, the SEC.  

The content of the motion makes it clear, at paragraph 13, that there seems to be agreement the test to be applied in applications made in accordance with section 86, as is the case here -- that the so-called no-harm test is what should be applied by the Board.  

     The essence of the dispute in this motion, however, is what interpretation should be afforded to the test.  SEC and those supporting the motion are clear that they are seeking to have the Board, in the consideration of this motion, revisit the issues that should be debated in this proceeding to include matters such as alleged anti-competitive behaviour, predatory pricing, the need 

for changes in government policy, revisiting the merits and 

rationale for how Hydro One has carried out its affairs in the past, and involving much older and much different transactions as compared to the one that is now the subject 

matter of this proceeding.  

The question is whether that is a proper purpose or objective of this motion and of this proceeding, and in my respectful submission, it is not.  

     It is in fact the antithesis of what was intended when the no-harm test was developed, and the process that was  followed in developing that test, and without more motions made into IR or interrogatory responses, should not be allowed to somehow morph into and become applications that are effectively a review and variance of the no-harm test proceeding, or, for that matter, a motion to have the Board revisit what the issues are to be considered in this proceeding, when from day one all parties have had the benefit of the certainty of the Board's decisions that 

gave rise to the no-harm test, and have worked from that 

understanding.  

     So this motion is about whether specific responses to interrogatory requests are proper.  It is not about an issues day into this proceeding.  It is not about a technical conference into the scope of information requests.  It is not about revisiting whether the no-harm test should be reviewed and varied.  

As a motion about responses to information requests in a section 86 proceeding, we acknowledge consideration and 

application of the no-harm test is necessary.  But it is that test, and the issue addressed in that test, that underscores this proceeding, and which must be considered in deciding, number one, whether the questions that have been asked are relevant, and number two, if relevant, whether the responses provided are responsive to the questions that have been asked.  

So let's turn to the no-harm test now.  What I would like to do is just go through a little bit about how the test was developed, how it has been interpreted and applied, and how it relates to the context of the present 

application.  

First, it will be recalled the no-harm test was 

developed in the context of three different section 86 

applications that were before this Board in the 2005 time frame.  

Before the test had been developed, the Board followed its usual practice of establishing a procedure upfront following the filing of an application, to allow parties the opportunity to consider the scope of issues that the Board determined to be relevant to that proceeding.  

If we could turn to tab 1 of Exhibit K1.3, which is our book of materials, what I've included there for your benefit, Panel, is a copy of the Procedural Order 

that was issued by this Board prior to the combined proceeding decision, but in relation to one of the applications that came before this Board as part of the combined proceeding.

And the purpose of me including that for you is to demonstrate that effectively an issues day proceeding was indeed held into applications made pursuant to 86, section 86, and it involved the question of what issues should be considered and debated.  And this, of course, was in respect of the Veridian Connections and Gravenhurst Hydroelectric amalgamation, and that was, for the record, EB-2005-0257.


And you can see at the bottom of page 2 of that Procedural Order that there was disagreement surrounding the scope of the issues to be considered by the Board in that proceeding, and the Board took the normal course of convening a preliminary process to address issues relevant to the matter to be decided and the need for further evidence.  So the point being that before the formulation of the no-harm test, that was the Board's process.


Tab 2 of our materials is the combined proceeding decision, and the point here is what happened following the 2005-0257 Procedural Order is that the Board made a conscious decision that other similarly situated applications had similar issues, and so a combined process was held to decide how the Board and what test the Board should be using to consider these applications, and in particular what the Board considered were factors that should be considered in approving an application made pursuant to section 86, and the factors that were considered were considered in the light of the Board's objectives in section 1 of the Act.  And that no-harm test was developed as the proper test that the Board should use in determining whether to grant leave in a section 86 application.


So in effect, the no-harm test is the lens by which the Board has determined what factors are appropriate or are in scope, as opposed to factors that are irrelevant and therefore out of scope.  

     And the test is clear.  The test is stated at page 6 of the combined proceeding decision, and I'll just quote the passage here saying that:

"The Board is of the view that its mandate in section 86 matters is to consider whether the transaction that has been placed before it will have an adverse effect relative to the status quo, in terms of the Board's statutory objectives.  It is not to determine whether another transaction, whether real or potential, can have a more positive effect than the one that has been negotiated to completion by the parties."

In that sense, section 86 applications of this nature, the Board equates protecting the interests of consumers with ensuring there is no harm to consumers.

     The Board went on to say after developing the test that the question then became what factors are within that context, within that scope.  And they looked at the different factors.  And that's found at page 7 of the decision.


And that analysis then resulted in several decisions, and has been applied in several decisions, and in the combined proceeding with those other decisions that followed after the combined proceeding had been issued -- namely, the three applications that were before the Board -- we have effectively been able to see how the test has been applied.  And there are six important observations, in my respectful submission, about the factors that have been deemed to be and considered to be relevant in a section 86 application, and conversely, what factors are not relevant or out of scope. 

     So what do we know?  What are the six factors?  Well, the first factor is that selling price is only relevant if it is so high as to create a financial burden on the acquiring company which adversely effects economic viability, since premiums are not normally recovered in rates.  That's what the Board said at page 7 of the combined decision.


So that was and is relevant to the current case, as we'll get to, because it's talking about a fact scenario where there is a premium that's been paid.


What the Board also said was where the price was low -- i.e., where there was no premium -- it's not a relevant factor, but it is relevant where there is a premium.  But there's a caveat to that, and the caveat is to create a financial burden on the acquiring company which adversely affects economic viability, since premiums are not normally recovered in rates.


I'm not going to go into how that applies to our case yet.  We will get there when we get through the individual IRs.  But that's the first observation.  

     The second observation that's been made about what factors are relevant is that the no-harm test is not concerned with the why or the how of the proposed transaction.  It is not about motivations of the parties and the judgment that the parties have executed to participate in the transaction.  And we see that in each of the decisions that followed from the combined proceeding, and those are found in tabs 3, 4, and 5 of the book of materials.


And I say that, Panel, because what is clear in each of those cases is that the process leading up to the transaction, whether it was assertions about not having the access to due-diligence records, whether it was assertions about proper procedure that was followed by one of the parties to the transaction, that the process was not followed in a manner that allowed for inquiry into the transaction.  All of that was reduced to the view that the Board took about saying the no-harm test is not concerned with the why or the how of the proposed transaction.


The Board went on to say -- and this is the third factor -- that the Board's concern is limited to the effect of the transaction when considered in light of the Board's objectives identified in section 1.  

     So in other words, the no-harm test was described as substantive and addresses the effect of a proposed transaction.  It is not a process test that addresses the rationale for or the process underlying the proposed transaction.  And those points are made at pages 8 and 9 of the combined proceeding, which is tab 2 of our book of materials. 

     The fourth point that is gleaned from these decisions is that the no-harm test is applied to the transaction which is the subject matter of the application.  It is not about whether another transaction, real or potential, can have a more positive effect than the one that has been negotiated by the parties.


And so the question, then, is if it's not about other transactions, if it's about the transaction that's before this Board, one must start to question things like what my friend did this morning with you, of introducing new evidence about a completely and entirely different transaction that is not before this Board.


It is not before this Board, and it is highly irrelevant.  It is about the transaction that has been made before you today -- before you in terms of the application that you are hearing as part of this proceeding.  

     The Haldimand transaction, the Haldimand materials, have nothing to do with this transaction that's been negotiated to completion between the transacting parties, Norfolk Power and Hydro One.  So that was the fourth point.  

     The fifth point is that section 86 proceedings and applications of the no-harm test have been found to be distinct from rate proceedings, and this is a point that was made in decision EB-2005-0234 at page 11.  And that again is found at tab 5 of our materials.


Rates would be an issue in the context of a section 86 proceeding only if the proposed transaction raised immediate concerns in relation to financial viability.  That's what the Board said in that decision.


And so in a case where a party raises concerns, as they did in EB-2005-0234, about future rate impact of a transaction, they have been reminded the changes in rates in the future would need to be the subject of a separate rate proceeding, and interested parties would be invited to participate and be afforded the opportunity for input on the proposed rates at that time.  And that's found at page 8 of that decision.

Now, my friend Mr. O'Leary has this morning provided me with a copy of a decision that seems to test that theory.  He seems to suggest that the decision that, for reasons unexplained, was only provided this morning to me, as opposed to when everyone else exchanged documents, is counter to the proposition that I've just made.  

But if you read the decision, Madam Chair, particularly at page 12 where the Board talks about the no-harm test, you'll see that what is stated is that the applicants argued that the proposed transaction meets the no-harm test in that there will be only a marginal increase in rates which, in all likelihood, will be offset by cost savings resulting from the transaction.  

     So the point being is that you had a case where rates were recognized by the applicant as not being reduced, not being frozen, but in fact increasing.  So query whether or not rates were an issue to be considered by the Board, when the applicants were coming forward and saying:  I know I have to meet the no-harm test, I know I have to demonstrate no adverse impact to ratepayers, and I'm telling you I know that my case is one where I'm going to be increasing the rates.  

     Well, of course, rates then would be something that would be the subject matter of evidentiary consideration in the proceeding.  

But go back to the second principle, and the second principle is:  Look at the transaction that's before you, consider the transaction that is before you, and what is the evidence of the parties before you.  Each transaction must be considered on its own, on its own facts and merits.  And if there are rate issues, then the default position is -- if there are rate proceedings that are up-and-coming, then that is the forum in which rate issues should be debated and considered.  

That, in my respectful submission, is how you can reconcile the two cases, that here you had a case where the applicant was in fact seeking increases, or acknowledging that there was increases in rates, and in other circumstances you had a rate proceeding that was coming 

forward where rate issues could be properly debated.  

I think that in our circumstances that we will get to, the facts are much different.  They are much different in terms of what the transaction is and how rates are being considered by the parties, the transacting parties. 

     The sixth point –- and then I will stop, Madam Chair, in light of the time -- is certainty over rate harmonization.  What we've gleaned from tab 3 of our book of materials -- which again is EB-2005-0257, and this is at page 2 -- is that rate harmonization of amalgamated entities has not been considered as a prerequisite to allowing the Board to hear and decide an application.  

While there is acknowledgement that there has to be some indication of when rate harmonization may occur, the details of the rate harmonization is not what has been considered to be something that is necessary in order to make application for a section 86 application, and even for the Board to decide whether that application should move forward.  

And there's good reason for that, and the good reason for that is:  Go back to the fifth principle.  If section 86 proceedings are different from rate proceedings, then you would expect there to be a full consideration of rate harmonization issues when that relief comes before the Board.  

It would be folly to think that in order to amalgamate a company, there would be a requirement to be able to gaze into the crystal ball five years hence and say what my rates are going to be, and how they are going to be harmonized.  It would be folly to think that, because you would have to have some level of certainty over what the rates are going to be at that time.  

In my respectful submission, is that it's clear that rate harmonization is a factor; it's a factor in the sense 

that the policies have underscored -- that I think my friend Ms. Sebalj will be referring to -- that rate harmonization is recognized as being something that needs to happen in the future, but the details of that rate harmonization process is not something that needs to be debated in an application made pursuant to section 86.  

     So we've had the benefit of those decisions, we've had the benefit of that discussion with the Board and how those decisions have been applied, and the fallout is that there's been clarity.  There's been regulatory certainty and predictability in respect of -- given to the 

marketplace.  We've been given a test.  

The parties have effectively been told by the marketplace -- have effectively been told by the Board:  This is the test we will be using; arrange your affairs to ensure that you can meet the test.  That's the signal that the market has effectively been given by the combined proceeding and by the no-harm test.  

So participants in the marketplace examining the manner in which a transaction will be assessed again have benefited from the uniform approach that the Board 

has adopted.  

     And this proceeding and others have also benefited from this approach.  And I say this proceeding because, at the very least, the Board's process has not required consideration of an issues day process.  We've not had to go through that.  We've assumed from day one that the issue is the no-harm test, which is no adverse impact to customers relative to the status quo.  And we've 

proceeded on that basis.  

     Now, could the no-harm test be challenged?  Of course it could.  That's what your Rules of Practice and Procedure say.  There's all sorts of different avenues that a party could take if they were to want to challenge the test.  A review and variance application would immediately come to mind.  It would have to be substantiated, but that's not this motion.  

This motion is narrow.  This motion must be interpreted as being narrow, in terms of applying the no-harm test.  Not changing it, not assessing its validity, but applying the no-harm test to the responses that have been provided to specific interrogatories.  

     So I'm going to stop there, Madam Chair.  I would like to now go into the individual IRs, and we'll do that after the lunch break. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  So we will reconvene at quarter after 1:00.  

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 11:51 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:22 p.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.


Mr. Nettleton, are you ready to continue?

     MR. NETTLETON:  I am, Madam Chair.  Thank you.


Just as a preliminary matter, the undertaking that was made this morning regarding the stating of relief as a matter of style of cause has -- is available for filing now, and I believe the copies have been provided to Ms. Sebalj and they can be marked as an exhibit.

     MS. CONBOY:  We have them.  Thank you.


Mr. O'Leary?

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, just a supplementary question with respect to the undertaking that was filed -- and in part that was my, I guess, confusion -- was the genesis of the question is at some point, I think, in some of the documents we had, there was some indication that the relief sought by Hydro One, one of the grounds was, of course, the acquisition of the shares of Norfolk, which is item 1 under subsection 86(2)(b).

The second is a request by Norfolk for, in effect, a rate order under section 78.

And then the third one -- and this is where my confusion arose -- I thought it was a request that there would be a transfer of the assets upon -- or within 18 months at the time that the transaction in this matter closes.


What is normally a provision in one of your orders in a MAADs application is that the transaction, the actual acquisition, has to be completed within 18 months.  Otherwise, the approval is null and void, and you come back and ask again.


But it appears Hydro One is not saying that.  They are saying that upon the filing of a notice to the Board of the completion of integration, it will then request something.  I'm not sure what that means, and that's why I was asking to see this in writing.  And I was hoping I could raise that now, and perhaps that's a point of clarification which really goes to the first issue of today:  What are they asking for?  What are they saying they are going to commit to?

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


Mr. Nettleton, can you help clarify the 18 months for Mr. O'Leary?

     MR. NETTLETON:  I can, in this way.  The matter was and is the subject of an information request; in particular, a question that EBN put to us about acceptability of an 18-month limitation, if you will, a restriction.  And I think if we go through that information request -- and I will.  I promise I will go through with you in terms of why we think that answer is responsive -- I think it will lend support to the matter that Mr. O'Leary is now raising about the style of cause not expressly referencing an 18-month condition.

     The reality is this.  Usually in a style of cause you are not dealing with conditions to a licence approval, that in a prayer for relief you would say "or such other relief as the Board may deem acceptable," and if the Board deems acceptable an 18-month provision as a limitation, as a sunset clause with respect to the notice, that's within the Board's prerogative to do so, but it wouldn't be something that Mr. O'Leary would expect the Applicant to do at the outset.


He's effectively asking the Applicant to amend his case, our case, to reflect the wishes of Mr. O'Leary's client.  And I think that that is a matter that could be argued in final argument, through a written final argument nicely, and allow you then to have the arguments about whether there is merit with respect to the condition or not.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Does that satisfy you, Mr. O'Leary? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  I'm afraid I'm still confused, because my understanding always has been that in your prayer for relief you set out specifically what you are looking for, including the specifics of the order that you are seeking.


So this isn't a request, as I think parties believed in the past, that within 18 months the transaction will be consummated, which is the normal -- this is a request instead that upon some future date, the date of which is not included here, that Hydro One will file some sort of a notice, which -- they don't detail what it is, and there's no time commitments to it, so we're not sure what they are asking for.


Are they saying:  In 18 months we will do this?  Or possibly in five years we'll do it?  So we don't know what they are asking for. 

     MS. CONBOY:  So why don't we proceed with Mr. Nettleton's submissions?  It was -- this was a matter of one of the interrogatories that EBN had.  To the extent that he can speak to that in his submissions, he will.

And then I suggest that, as he has put forward, if there is concern that it's not clear or in your client's submission there should be an 18-month clause or some other type of clause put in the decision, that you can do so in final submissions. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


Please proceed.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, Madam Chair, just for the record, Staff has the same concern with respect to this.  This is -- it is very unusual that they have made the style of cause contingent on some future filing, and we have the same concern.  And we're fine with going ahead with the explanation in the interrogatory response, but we may have to address what it is that they are actually asking for, what the Applicants are asking for, in terms of the transfer of the distribution system and the assignments and by what date. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Panel, I indicated to you that this afternoon I was going to move to the third area of my roadmap, and that is the responses to -- the individual responses that are the subject matter of this motion.  

     And before I do that, I think it's wise for us to recall what Rule 28(02) says -- that's the Rule that applies to interrogatories -- and in particular part (d), which says:

"Interrogatories shall contain specific requests for clarification of a party's evidence, documents, or other information in the possession of the party and relevant to the proceeding."


So that's the directions that your Rules of Practice and Procedure guide parties that seek to ask interrogatories -- and that's the context in which we see the motion being made -- and guide us in terms of how we should be responding to interrogatories.  

     I'm going to start, and I'm going to try to group as many similarly -- similar topical areas as I can.  But I'm going to start with -- basically in the same order as the IRs appear in the motion as attachments to the appendix.  And I'm thankful that my friend Mr. Shepherd has put a cross-reference index for you, but I will be working from his appendix, so that really takes me to the first impugned information request, and that's Staff 4.2.  

     Now, what I would notice and observe at the outset of the response and the request made by Staff is the customary approach of an interrogatory, having both a reference and a preamble to give context to the question that's being asked.  Typically, that's very helpful.  Typically, that clarifies what it is that the party is seeking, in terms of the information.


And we look at 4.2, then, as the follow-up to the preamble, where the SEC motion has indicated that the request that was made was not responded to in a responsive way.


So let's look at the question.  The question is:

"Please provide the cost of moving the office..."


That is, NPI's office on Victoria Street:

"... and indicate whether this cost is included in the incremental transition costs found on page 4 of Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1."

     And the response provided says that:

"Neither the cost nor the benefit of moving the centre are included in the incremental transition costs."

       So the point here is that the response has effectively answered the question.  The question is:  If it's relevant, if the costs are going to be a matter of relevance of rate concern, then they would -- we need to know what the information is.  But the answer 

provided is they’re not included in the incremental transition costs.

And if they are not included, then why are they relevant to the no-harm test, which again is about assessing adverse rate impacts?  How does providing the cost information requested become relevant to the matters and issues now before the Board, if the response is that neither the costs nor the benefits included in the incremental transition costs are there?

In our respectful submission, the question has been asked and answered.  It's important to take the question in context, in context of the application.  The evidence, the clarifying evidence which the information request is intended for is to clarify the evidence of the party.  

The evidence of the party, being the Applicant, is there will be a rate freeze, and there will be a status quo rate in place with respect to HONI.  So the point is that if the answer is there are no costs of moving the office included in the transition costs, then there will be no rate impact.  

     Why do we need to go beyond that and say:  Well, notwithstanding all that, just tell me what the costs are?  Well, again, it's in the context of why.  What is the no-harm test?  The no-harm test is not a rate proceeding.  We're not asking or intending to proceed on a basis of inquiry into the prudence and the justice and reasonableness of each line item of a revenue requirement.  

     I'm turning next to Staff IR 7.2, and I would make this point, too, just as an observation.  We have not heard from Staff whether they take issue with the responses provided or not.  We assume not, because they would have chimed in before now to say that:  We, too, share the concerns that have been expressed in the motion.  But I just make that observation, that there appears 

to be acceptance by the party asking the question in the first instance.  

     Okay.  With respect to 7.2, this deals with rate differentials and harmonization timing.  And the question was:

"Please provide HONI's plan to address the rate differentials between the two service territories at the time of the harmonization, with particular emphasis on potential rate shock for HONI and peak customers."

     Well, the context, again, of this question is details around rate harmonization.  What are you going to do, and how are you going to ensure that there will be no rate shock to customers at that time?  

In my respectful submission, this is at odds with 

one of the six observations I referred you to earlier, that rate harmonization is contemplated, it's something, but a rate -- a matter that comes before this Board in respect of section 86 is not the time nor the place to have details explored about how rate harmonization is going to in fact happen, if the applicant hasn't taken those steps.  

     The applicant -- if the applicant has taken those steps, if the applicant knows how they are going to proceed on that basis, then that makes sense.  But what the answer is, is this:  At the present time, HONI expects to file an application that may propose moving NPDI customers to an existing HONI rate case or classes, creating a new customer rate class or some other potential option.  

That's what the answer is.  The answer is:  We haven't made a decision as to which way we're going to go, and nor, in our respectful submission, is HONI required to do so, to make that determination at the outset of a section 86 proceeding.

Just so that we’re covering all the bases, my 

submissions with respect to IR -- Interrogatory 4.2 equally applies to EBN IR 44.  And with respect to 7.2, my submissions are equally pertinent to EBN IR 33 and 37, for the record. 

     The next impugned IR is 9.2, but I understand from Mr. Shepherd's latest submissions that that is no longer an issue of this motion.  

     That takes us to the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition Interrogatory 2.  Now, this interrogatory asks for a study of the incremental cost of serving Norfolk customers, and if no study is available, how Hydro One can claim that the distribution rate freeze it is proposing does not come at the expense of consumers.  

And SEC has stated, at paragraph 70 of its motion, that the information in this interrogatory is required in order to, quote, "determine the unrecoverable amounts being paid out by Hydro One," and, quote, "whether Hydro One exercised commercial judgment as claimed." 

     Well, we submit that the no-harm test is clear, in that it does not include an examination of business judgment, and that the price and cost is only relevant if there is a reason to believe the acquiring entity will be negatively affected by the price paid. 

That again was one of the six observations I made at the outset.  No party has submitted in the IRs -- no questions have been asked in the interrogatories about a concern over how HONI, Hydro One Networks Inc., could 

be negatively affected by the price paid; in other words, whether Hydro One Networks Inc. has the wherewithal to pay the price that's paid.  

There is no -- there's acknowledgement that there is a premium that's been paid.  But there is no challenge, for obvious reasons, whether Hydro One Networks Inc. has the wherewithal to pay the price that they have negotiated.  

     So it strikes us, Madam Chair and Panel Members, that, again, the VEC Coalition IR No. 2 has been answered as best as possible.

But the reality is that the information that's being requested is not consistent with the relief that's sought.  The relief that's sought is a rate freeze, and that the questions of recovery of a payout of unrecoverable amounts is something that Hydro One has already spoken to, to say that that's not part of the relief that they are seeking, that's not part of the case.  The case is clear that they are not seeking to recover the premiums or the fallout of the unrecoverable -- or any unrecoverable amount associated with the rate freeze.  

The rate freeze is going to provide a benefit 

to rate customers.  

     That takes me then to School Energy Coalition 1 and 2, and what I would -- our submissions in respect of these two 

information requests are as follows.

The first interrogatory, Interrogatory 1, asks for a table showing the number of Norfolk customers which would fall under each of Hydro One rate classes, if they were immediately assigned these classes for 2013.

And the second interrogatory asks for a table allocating the volumetric billing determinants for Norfolk's customers to Hydro One's rate classes, again assuming these customers were assigned to the Hydro One rate classes.  

     In the motion at paragraph 32, SEC states that this 

information is needed in order to assess whether Norfolk rates will increase.  

Well, the evidence again in this proceeding is that

Norfolk's rates are in fact going to be the subject matter of a rate decrease.  So the premise to the question, or the premise to the motion, is inaccurate.  It's working from a perception that there will be an increase, but the relief sought is intended to freeze rates.  So the whole basis of the question is wrong.

As Hydro One has stated, the -- and then with respect to the concept of rate shock, which is again something that has been discussed in the VECC IR, you know, as a matter of ratemaking practices and principles, the Board does not allow rate shock.  So again, it's -- the premise to the question doesn't seem to be accurate.  

     When we look at the actual response provided in SEC 1, what the response says is:

"HONI does not have information on the geographic dispersion of customers or kilometers of distribution line within Norfolk’s service area necessary to allow the requested table to be provided."

So it's a case of, also, we don't have the information.  And if we go back to the Rule, the Rule relating to information requests, it makes it abundantly clear that the questions have to be information in the possession of the party.


So the answer provided is fulsome.  The answer provided is:  We don't have the information.  Even if we didn't have the information, we don't see how this question is relevant.

With respect to Interrogatory SEC 3(c) and 4(c), these requests ask HONI to again complete tables prepared by SEC, and that HONI do so by making assumptions about rate classes that Norfolk customers would be placed into following the five-year rate period, the rate freeze period.


The answers provided state that the rate classes to which Norfolk customers will be transitioned following the end of the five-year rate freeze is not known.  No determination has been made, and on that basis we can't provide the information.


The real question here is:  If SEC is wanting to put forward their views about what the rates will be, they are entitled to do so.  It's not a case of HONI having to provide or make the evidence for SEC.  We've answered the response by saying we don't have that information, but, you know, if SEC is wanting to sponsor evidence, if SEC has a theory of the case, then the question is:  Why is it that -- if HONI can't supply the information, why is it that we're now obligated to provide and do the work that SEC could otherwise do?


And this again is addressed in the motion at paragraph 36 of -- paragraph 6 of SEC's motion, where they say that this information is needed, and I quote:

"If there will be a large rate increase in 2020, it is necessary for the Board to have evidence on that increase." 

     That's a big if.  That's SEC's position, and it's not based on the Applicant's evidence.  If that is SEC's position or theory, again, it's for them to make that case clear.  They can't do so with responses from the Applicant, because HONI, Hydro One Networks Inc., indicated that it's not information within their possession.  

     SEC IR 5 and 18.

5 requests that HONI provide -- that Hydro One Networks Inc.:

"... provide all memos, reports, analyses, valuations, business cases, or other documents..."

In Norfolk or Hydro One's possession that provides analysis of the purchase price or forecasts the recovery of the purchase price.

And SEC IR 18 requests information on valuation of the assets or the business of Norfolk.


And in the motion at paragraph 50, SEC states that these valuation memos and business cases are needed because if Hydro One is not paying "a commercially reasonable price" --  that's the term that we heard this morning too -- for Norfolk, the Board can review Hydro One's business judgment in entering this transaction.


So here we are at the crux of the discussion about business judgment, and two comments I would like to make here.

The first is that the hypothesis made by SEC regarding what is and is not commercially reasonable is just that.  It's their assertion and it's their evidence.  It's not the position of the Applicant, and it does not mean that an applicant must be some sort of contortionist to appease the intervenor's position.  

     The second is the commercially reasonable nature is stated to relate to price.  But price is only relevant if there is a reason to believe that the acquiring entity will be negatively affected by the price paid, which is not the case here.  And again, no party has challenged that.


That again comes out of the combined proceeding.  That is why the Board was so clear in saying that motivations of the parties are not what's relevant.  Price is not relevant unless there is a premium paid and can be demonstrated to have financial impact on the purchaser so as to cause some impact on the financial viability of a licenced distributor.  That's not in doubt or questioned in these proceedings.

     In our respectful submission, the questions have not been responded to because they fall outside of the scope of the factors that have been elicited by the Board and clearly stated by the Board in the no-harm test.

     With respect to SEC IR 6, Interrogatory 6 again requests documents prepared by Hydro One Networks Inc.:

"... analysing the recovery or potential recovery of the purchase price of any other LDC purchased by..."

HONI, Hydro One Networks Inc.:

"... since 1998."


And SEC has stated at paragraph 54 that this information

"... will assist the Board in understanding how Hydro One will recover the purchase price in this application".

     Well, the fundamental assumption that SEC is making is whatever happened in 1998 has applicability here.  And if that were so, Madam Chair, the evidence would say so.  The position of the Applicant would say as much.  But that's not the Applicant's position.

What the Applicant has said is that there will be a rate freeze.  The Applicant has said the status quo rates will apply with respect to Hydro One Networks Inc.  We haven't mentioned anything about the past being a predictor of -- or past transactions being the predictor of how this transaction will proceed in the future.  That may be SEC's position.  That's a matter of argument; that's not a matter of evidence.


The more salient point too, Madam Chair, is that the no-harm test is very clear.  It's about the transaction that's before you.  It's not about Haldimand, it's not about 90 transactions that occurred since 1998.  It's about this transaction.  It's about the facts that are related to this transaction, and it's about the evidence that is formed in the application of the parties.  That's what you should be focusing on.  That is what is relevant to this proceeding.  That is what the combined proceeding and the no-harm test has focused on.  

     So we respectfully submit that the question is not relevant as it relates to information that is not in issue in this proceeding.  The information requested is simply -- sorry, simply does not relate to the "in-scope factors" associated with the no-harm test. 

     SEC 7, Interrogatory 7 requests calculations analyzing the impact of the 1 percent rate reduction.  Well, here we have an information request that is relevant.  The topic is relevant.  It's dealing with the evidence of the party, the Applicant.  The Applicant's position is that there will be a 1 percent rate reduction, and so the question has been asked:  How did you calculate it?

And the answer provided is:

"Hydro One estimated the impact of the 1% reduction in rates for Norfolk customers based 

on the assumption that Distribution Revenue is equal to approximately $11.5M per year."

And:

"One per cent of this amount is equal to [...] $115,000..."

So take that 115,000 and do a present value calculation over a five-year period, and the amount is 490,000.  Asked and answered.  

     At paragraph 51 of the motion, SEC appears to be quarrelling with the way in which Hydro One Networks Inc. has gone about calculating the 1 percent rate reduction.  But, Madam Chair, that does not make the answer to the question unresponsive.  

SEC may very well want to propose a different calculation, a different methodology, that somehow this transaction should be evaluated using a different methodology or different approach in assessing the value.  But that doesn't make the response that HONI has provided, or HOI has provided, unresponsive.  

SEC may not like the way Hydro One networks Inc. and HOI have calculated the amount, and may in fact take a different view on that.  But that is for SEC to put forward as a matter of evidence.  That's not a matter for HONI to help or support SEC in forming its case.  

     I am moving to SEC IR 8.  Interrogatory 8 is requesting the RFP documents that relate to the transaction.

Again, not to sound like a broken record, but if you go back to the six observations that I elicited this morning, it's clear that the purpose of the no-harm test is to assess the effect, not the process leading up to, not the motivations, not the due-diligence documents.  It's about the effect of the transaction.

We see -- and have not heard from Mr. Shepherd as to why or how an RFP document is in any way related to the effect of the transaction.  So Hydro One has declined to provide the information, and did so on the basis both because the information is confidential, but also because the materials do not relate to the no-harm test.  

     With respect to Interrogatory 14 -- sorry, SEC Interrogatory 14, this IR asks a number of embedded questions.  And I pause here to make the observation that the formation of the IRs that SEC has provided are different from, for example, OEB Staff, simply 

because there is no preamble.  

It is difficult, when an applicant is working under a very tight time line, to get interrogatories out, and does so by not having the context to interrogatories.  It is very helpful when that type of context is provided.  But when it's not provided, we read the question the way it comes and we respond to it based upon how the question has been worded.  We can't get into the heads of the  interrogatory -- or the party asking the questions.  

     The first question was:

"Please provide a description of the legal or regulatory recourse that ratepayers in Norfolk would have in the event that the Applicant fails to meet its capital spending commitments as set out in Schedule 6.6 of the Share Purchase Agreement."

So it's calling for a legal conclusion.  It's calling for a question about what legal recourse or regulatory recourse there would be.  We interpreted that to mean that really what the question is asking is:  Do we have in our 

possession some memo, some opinion about what the legal -- about the legal recourse or regulatory recourse that would be afforded to ratepayers?  

Number one, that's a matter of law.  It's a question that any ratepayer would be able to answer.  It's not up to HONI and it's not about their evidence.  Their evidence isn't about what the legal recourse is.  Their evidence is:  Here's the agreement.  Here is the agreement that we have executed.  

If you are asking for a legal conclusion about is the agreement enforceable, or how would I go about taking issue with the agreement before a regulator, why is it HONI that has to be the party answering that question?  

As a matter of law, the answer should be it's whatever is afforded in the legislation.  But if you are asking HONI for that, do we have an opinion about that, we answered it in saying no, we don't.  We don't have it.  So we're not in possession of that.  

HONI then attempted to go on and answer the other questions that are embedded in this long paragraph of 

questions.  And it did so first by reading the next sentence of this paragraph that talks about or references capital spend, annual capital spends, and the discrepancy between the numbers found in publicly available information, namely the Yearbook statistics, and the information that's found in the share purchase agreement, schedule 6.6.  

And what we thought the question was getting at is:  Where are you going to be able to achieve those types of 

efficiency gains?  And we answered that question by saying:  Well, we've answered that; please go to VECC Interrogatory Response 3 for a discussion on efficiency gains that we're anticipating.  

     We then went on to say:  You've referenced in the next sentence, which we interpret to be a separate question:

"Please explain why the NPDI Financial statements show capital spending $7.0 million in 2012 and $5.1 million in 2011."


And we answered that question, and we answered that question by saying:

"... the NPDI financial statements includes $2.3M of previous years smart meter spending that had been recorded in regulatory deferral accounts and moved to fixed asset accounts in 2012..."

As approved in the 2012 rate case.

So we thought we were being helpful and responsive to that part as well.  

And then with respect to the last sentence, we tried to again be helpful by explaining that there appeared to be an error, and we told them where the error was, and we explained that.  

So again, it doesn't seem to be the case 

of HONI not being responsive to questions.  We’ve tried as best we could to be as responsive as we could to these questions, and we did.  

     What SEC has said at paragraph 74 of its motion is that they believe HONI:

"... should be required to state how they believe the capital spending commitments are enforceable.  If they are not willing or able to do so, they should be required to withdraw any reference to any such unenforceable commitments in the Applications."

Well, Madam Chair, that's argument.  They are asking HONI to effectively modify its case.  The evidence before 

the Board is what's found in schedule 6.6 of the agreement.  The commitment is what the commitment is; that's the evidence.  

If SEC wants to challenge the enforceability, or if they want to make an argument that says that commitment has no prospect of being enforceable, they can make that argument.  But that's not a matter of being unresponsive to an information request, and that's what this motion is about.  It strikes me that from the motion, paragraph 74, what they are really asking you to do is now require HONI to -- and NPDI to effectively modify the terms and schedule of the share and purchase agreement, but that again is not what this motion is about.  

     SEC 15 is my next area.  SEC IR 15 requests documents and analysis related to productivity gains, and they have stated at paragraph 67 of the motion that since productivity gains are what permit an acquirer to recover the costs associated with the transaction, HONI must submit any documents and analysis that include any details of productivity gains.

     HONI's response notes that it has provided examples of how it is expecting to achieve productivity gains.  Those remarks also have to be placed into the context of what the application before you is about.  It's about a rate freeze.  You can't just simply ignore one element of the relief and one element of the case that's before you by looking only at productivity gains, as opposed to the rate treatment.


Here, the risk is on the Applicants with regards to whether or not the productivity gains are going to be realized.  The commitment is through a rate freeze, is that it's not going to affect ratepayers if the productivity gains are not going to be achieved.


But more importantly, the question is:  What information, what value of that productivity gain forecast, is there?  The importance is that that issue is most likely going to be the subject matter of discovery at future rate cases.  Why wouldn't it?  That's when there will be a reconsideration of whether there have been cost efficiencies achieved or not.


If Hydro One puts in a number in a rate case related to a cost that it's forecasting in the future and it is significantly above a previously imposed value, one would expect that that differential is going to be explored in detail.


We're also mindful, Madam Chair, that this is about a competitive proceeding.  There are other suitors out there for utilities, and I will get to that in more detail when we talk about the EBN IRs.  But be mindful also of the fact that publication of productivity gains is tantamount to disclosure of the business model that Hydro One is intending to use and achieve, and if we have it placed on the public record, it is a matter of public record and it is going to send, in my respectful submission, a chilling effect, because it will send a signal that then in the future all potential suitors will be the subject matter of discovery that will allow their competitors to look at and consider the business models used by their competitors in future proceedings, in future transactions.


In our respectful submission, we go back to the combined proceeding test.  We go back to the principles of the no-harm test.


What was made clear there is it's the effect of the transaction.  The effect of the transaction.  The effect of the transaction is a rate freeze.  It's not about passing on productivity gains that aren't achieved.  By definition there's protection, there's rate protection, because of a rate freeze.


With respect to Interrogatory 16, the question asked:

"Please explain how the Applicant proposes to calculate the impact of tax changes on Norfolk ratepayers if the assets and costs of Norfolk have been integrated into the Applicant's accounts."

     Again, the observation here is there's no preamble to this.  But what we do have is, in the motion, an accusation made at paragraph 75 that we have misunderstood the question.


In our respectful submission, the question has been asked and answered.  The question that has been asked is:

"Please explain how the Applicant proposes to calculate the impact of tax changes on Norfolk ratepayers if the assets and costs of Norfolk have been integrated into the Applicant's accounts."


Well, integration is the premise behind the question.  And what we said in our response was that we're going to be tracking:

"... assets and costs of NPDI in a separate ledger..."

And:

"Any impact of tax changes will be tracked in NPDI's regulatory account for tax changes which will continue to be separately maintained."

     Now, what the motion went on to do, though, in this question is make it clear that the question that was proposed was not in fact the question that Mr. Shepherd's client really wanted to ask.  What Mr. Shepherd in his motion states at paragraph 75 is an altogether new question, and the question in particular relates to the differential in actual tax changes.


But that's not what the reading of the question is.  Mr. Shepherd went, this morning, to go on to say:  I want to know about small-business tax implications and how and what the differentials are.  Where is any of that in this question?


Again, it might have been helpful if a preamble had been provided that explained what exactly it is that Mr. Shepherd was seeking, but the question as proposed has been asked and answered.


What seems to be lost here is that we have two licenced distributors, and the same statutory criteria applies to those -- to all distributors with respect to tax rates and other assumptions for calculations of capital cost allowance and rates and to calculate forecast income tax allowances used in setting rates.  That's a matter of public record.

     So the point is -- is that the question was unclear.  We took a view and answered the question as best we could.  It's responsive.  If Mr. Shepherd wanted a different answer to a different question, he should have asked that question.  He didn't.

     SEC Interrogatory 19, this question asks whether former president Brad Randall is under any confidentiality restrictions with respect to the proposed transactions or the negotiation leading to the proposed transactions.


In its motion, paragraph 78, for the first time, SEC asks a different question.  And that different question is again -- has been alluded to by Mr. Shepherd today.  He said:  We want to talk to him about potentially appearing as a witness.  Where is that?  That's not what the question asks.


All it is is a bald question about whether a former president is under any confidentiality restrictions with respect to the proposed transaction.  How is that not -- why is it unreasonable to interpret that question to go to in the combined proceeding context of saying we're talking about matters leading up to a transaction, not the effect of the transaction.  We're talking about a former president and whether he's under a confidentiality restriction with respect to proposed transactions.  

In my respectful submission, we are clearly 

under the guise of one of the six pillars or observations about not having the no-harm test talk about the motivations and the behaviours of the parties leading up to a transaction.  


So that concludes the submissions on the SEC IRs.  And again, those are the IRs that are reflective of Mr. Shepherd's client's penmanship.  

And now we move on to the other impugned IRs that Mr. Shepherd and others would like better and further responses to.  

So we move to the Consumer Council of Canada, IR 

No. 3.  I should pause here for just a minute.  If I have mentioned the "information request" as opposed to "interrogatory request," I apologize upfront.  The terms are meant to be synonymous.  It's just my familiarity with other boards have the term "information requests," but I just wanted to make that point.  I've been told by others -- not mentioning any names -- that I have a habit of just going right into "information requests," so I apologize if that's been the case. 

     MS. CONBOY:  That's fine.  Thank you.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Interrogatory No. 3 requests an estimate regarding average annual increases in rates.  The response provided is responsive to the evidence on the record in this proceeding, namely that:

"Norfolk rates would be lowered by 1% and frozen until the end of the 5-year period."

And legacy customers will be subject to the changes approved under Hydro One Networks' customer service application.  

In other words, questions about future rates have effectively been deferred to future rate proceedings, which are the subject matter of future rate applications.  We say that's responsive to the question.  This is not a rate case.  We rely on the combined proceeding decision that I alluded to earlier on that topic, and there's good reason for separation of those two concepts.  We move on.  

     The Essex/Bluewater/Niagara-on-the-Lake interrogatories are next, and I will be referring to the acronym EBN in that context. 

     Again, mindful of the fact that the questions have been prepared without any preamble, and mindful of the fact that the interrogatory is there and without context, there is always the case of misinterpretation.

But the question for you, in my respectful submission, is:  Is the response provided responsive to the question asked?  

The question has been asked to say:

"Prior to the proposed acquisition of NP, what was the forecasted capital distribution spending by customer for the next five years (i.e. 2013-2018) for both HONI and NP?"

Well, the first thing we did in our response is we said the question is asking about NPDI.  The question is asking about forecast capital spending in a period of time that doesn't relate to the transaction.  It relates in the sense of the 2013 to 2018 period, but it's about what happened and what was in the mindset of NPDI prior to the 

transaction.  

We go back to the combined proceeding, and we say it's the effect of the transaction that's important, not what's happened prior to and leading up to the transaction.  So for that reason, the answer reads that:

"For NPDI, the capital expenditures over the next 5 years are irrelevant as NPDI rates will be lowered and frozen."

And the "lowered and frozen" is what's relevant, because that's the evidence before you; that's what this case is about.  

     The answer goes on to say:  You've also asked about Hydro One, so let us tell you about Hydro One.  The answer provided is:

"For Hydro One, there has been no forecast capital change as a result of the acquisition.  As stated in the application, HONI's Custom COS will be produced using HONI's existing customer base and will not include any capital and OM&A associated with serving, maintaining, and operating customers within the NPDI service territory."

Is that responsive to the question?  We submit yes.  Is it responsive particularly in the context of the party asking the question being a competitor?  Absolutely.  

     If the real question that EBN wanted was information about capital spend, there was information placed on the record in the proceeding about that, and it was referred to in SEC 14.  It deals with the expected spend.  Recall that the share purchase and sale agreement -- purchase and sale agreement, sorry, it's getting long -- schedule 6 had information about that.  And recall SEC had dug out statistics available on the public record regarding Yearbook statistics for NPDI.  So it wasn't as if there isn't information on the record.  

But as it relates to the question that's been asked and the response that's been provided, we submit:  Asked and answered.  It's been responsive to the question, and the question as it relates to prior periods or prior views before the transaction, it's not relevant.  And it's 

not relevant again in this context, where there is a rate freeze.  

     That takes me to –- sorry, those submissions with respect to EBN 2 are also applicable to EBN 45.  

Onward to EBN Interrogatory 3 and 4, these interrogatories request that Hydro One Networks Inc. conduct a historical research exercise into Hydro One Networks Inc.'s past acquisitions and mergers, and, at paragraph 47 of the motion, that it expects this information to show a pattern:

"... that is relevant to whether the Board believes that Norfolk Power ratepayers will experience a result consistent with that pattern."

     That sounds like a theory of the case.  It's not our case; it's SEC's case.  But SEC is really fashioning its own version of the test to be applied under section 86.  The no-harm test does not involve the Board considering past acquisitions in determining whether it believes the current transaction will be similar or not to these.  

Hydro One Networks Inc. submits that SEC's and EBN's requests that the Board conduct a historical comparative analysis does not fall within the scope of the no-harm test, as set out in the combined proceeding.  It's not relevant.  If it was relevant, we wouldn't have seen the combined proceeding take the effort it did to say 

it's the effect of the transaction, not the process and 

information leading up to the transaction.  

     EBN Interrogatories 5 and 6.  Interrogatory 5 would have HONI present information about its expenditure management as part of the section 86 proceeding, and EBN Interrogatory 6 would have Hydro One Networks Inc. give a progress report on compensation costs.

And again, the no-harm test does not involve an inquiry into an LDC's expenditure management and compensation costs, nor does it involve an examination on the progress that an LDC has made on these since its last rate case.


The information requested flows from a rate case.  It is not related to the current transaction before the Board.  It may very well be matters and questions and areas of exploration in a rate case proceeding, but again, this is not that.  

     SEC has submitted that such a line of inquiry will assist the Board in making a determination under the no-harm test.  They say as much at paragraph 40.  But again, this ignores the fact that this would effectively mean that in each and every section 86 proceeding, the Board could conduct a general inquiry into an LDC's expenditure management and compensation cost program.  We submit that those issues are outside the scope of the no-harm test. 

     With respect to EBN Interrogatory 54 -- and my notes indicate the comments are also equally relevant to the Consumers Council of Canada Interrogatory 6 -- now, sorry, with respect -- let me put it in the context of the Consumers Council of Canada Interrogatory 6.  The comments are equally applicable to EBN IR 54.


CCC Interrogatory 6 has been -- requests all information provided to Hydro One's board of directors regarding the transaction as requested, and our submissions on this point again relate to the fact that this is not in keeping with the no-harm test.  It would mean a departure, such that we're looking at the why of the transaction and the how of the transaction.  It's not the effect of the transaction.  And we submit there's no reason to depart by reconsidering that element of the no-harm test.  

     CCC Interrogatory 9 asks the Applicant to explain whether HONI customers will be affected by the purchase price, and also asks HONI to explain efficiencies it will achieve through consolidation.


The response provided is responsive, because it says that existing HONI customers will not be affected by the purchase price, and has also provided examples of economies of scale and productivity gains that it expects to achieve through this transaction, and that's why there was reference to VECC Interrogatory 3 and SEC Interrogatory 11.

     What SEC appears to be arguing in paragraph 65 of its motion is that Hydro One has not adequately answered the interrogatory.  Again, I revert to my comments made earlier about the exact details and efficiencies of this -- in this case relative to the rate freeze and the fact that the risk is on the Applicant.  And going beyond and having a detailed discussion about what is forecast and what may not be achieved is, quite frankly, irrelevant when the risk is being borne by the Applicant.  

     CCC Interrogatory 10, this IR is in respect of whether HONI -- Hydro One Networks Inc. -- has a policy that guides its LDC acquisitions.  The motion at paragraph 56 states that the policy will assist the Board in its determination under the no-harm test, because, for example, Hydro One Networks Inc. policy could suggest actions harmful to ratepayers.

     We submit that the requested information is again information related to the hows and the whys.  It's information not about the effect of the transaction.  It is information that goes to the heart of Hydro One Inc.'s business strategy and judgment in respect of LDC mergers and consolidations.  It goes directly to the why of the transaction, which the Board has established to be outside of the scope of the no-harm test.  It is very proper for Hydro One to therefore decline to provide the information.


EBN Interrogatories 13, 14, 15, 20, 21, 22, 28, 32, 43 and 46 all concern questions asking for details on efficiencies, productivity gains, economies of scale, cash-flow models, financing rates, definitions of commercial value, and cost savings related to this acquisition, including any relationship between these and the costs associated with the transaction, and the 1 percent rate reduction and freeze for -- for customers.  Interesting that a competitor would be asking that type of information of another competitor in a public proceeding. 

     EBN also asks for various types of forecast costs related to the NPDI acquisition.  The response in 13 is stated to express concern over this type of information being provided to a competitor.  The response to 13 has made it clear that Hydro One has declined -- the reasons why Hydro One has declined to provide this information, because it does go to the very heart and essence of business judgment.


In our respectful submission, business judgment is not what the effect of the transaction is.  It is the how.  It is the why.  It is the analysis that Hydro One has used to decide to participate and transact the way it has.  What this Board should be concerned with is the effect.  

     Interrogatory 16, this interrogatory asks about integration issues and mistakenly assumes that NPDI shares a census AMI system with other distributors.  Hydro One Networks Inc.'s answer explains that this is incorrect and that NPDI owns its own system and that integration issues such as those relating to the AMI network are matters of ongoing consideration.  

     Given that they are the matters of ongoing consideration, the answer is fully responsive, and it, quite frankly, is contrary to SEC's blanket statement that it is not found at paragraph 69.  

     EBN IR 24, 25 and 27 all relate to information relating to Norfolk employment positions following the closing of the transaction.  SEC again states that HONI's answers are not responsive in paragraph 69, yet Hydro One has answered by explaining its plan to integrate NPDI staff, which was in the response to Interrogatory 27, noting that further detail cannot yet be provided due to the fact that Hydro One Networks Inc.'s integration plan regarding NPDI's acquisition is still in development.  How is it possible to provide something that is still in development?

     EBN Interrogatory 26 relates to organization charts and salaries for the operations department at both Norfolk and Hydro One Networks Inc. in the service area that will include NPDI in the future.  And an organizational chart is provided in the answer for Norfolk, and it's explained that Hydro One doesn't have an organizational chart for the service area that will include NPDI in the future.  

     HONI has refused to provide salary information requested, as again that information is viewed to fall outside the no-harm test.  It certainly hasn't been explained by Mr. Shepherd as to why that type of information falls within the test.  

What you will recall Mr. Shepherd's and others' submissions are is that the test is not the no-harm test, but it's one of public interest.  We submit that -- sorry, I just lost my place.  

In paragraph 69 of the motion, Hydro One notes that SEC provided a statement suggesting that with respect to the costs that will or may arise as a result of the acquisition -- and that statement is made in 

respect of the salaries -- again there is no contemplation of salary costs being an issue, again because of the rate freeze and the commitment here.  It's not the case that the motion has explained, in the context of this application, why the salary information is specifically relevant.  

     I move to EBN Interrogatory 30.  Here again, we're on the topic of compensation costs of employees, and in particular, whether existing Hydro One Network Inc. customers will have to absorb the cost of an increase in compensation to Norfolk employees.  

We've stated that HONI customers will not absorb any costs associated with the additional salary expenses, as HONI's upcoming rate application will not include any costs associated with the NPDI service territory.  The question is asked and answered.  

     EBN Interrogatory 53, the interrogatory requests a high-level summary of all other bids submitted -– of all of the bids submitted.  Hydro One has answered that again that this information is not within the scope considered in section 86 proceedings.  Page 6 of the combined decision has expressly addressed that point, that the Board is not to consider other bids, because to do so, the selling utility would also have to be concerned that the Board would step into the shoes of the seller and determine if a competing option was better, and certainly in negotiations between seller and purchasers would be lost.  

     That's why it's not about the best alternative; it's about the transaction that the parties have negotiated to conclusion, and whether that transaction is adverse or not, or causes harm.  

     EBN 55, 56 and 57 -- and you'll be happy to know I'm at the end -- this information requested -- this IR related to the time preceding the proposed transaction, and -- if I may just take a moment?

     55, 56 and 57, Madam Chair, is again information which, we submit, is out of scope.  It again is relating to information regarding motivations, and questioning motivations by introducing documents into the record of this proceeding relating to discussions and documents that are asserted to demonstrate that the government of Ontario has approved the acquisition of the transaction.  

The questions have been responded to by indicating 

that my client does not view these as being relevant to the 

no-harm test.  Again, the reason for that is that it's not about information related to the effect.  It's information that relates to motivations and discussions that arose, if any, prior to the transaction.  And we don't see, again, how that information relates to the inquiry that the Board has made it so clear is the subject matter of section 86 proceedings.  

     The reason for my pause has nothing to do with those three interrogatories.  It has everything to do with the comments -- and I was realizing, as I was at the end of my submissions on these interrogatories, that I've come to the end and I realize that I didn't get to the topic of the 18 months, which interrogatory my friends and colleagues are madly scrambling to identify.  

My recollection is that there is an interrogatory.  It must not have been one of the impugned interrogatories; otherwise I would have touched upon it.  But if you give us a moment, we will find that and I will have further submissions on it.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  If it's helpful, we think it's a VECC 

interrogatory, a supplemental from this morning.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  We found it.  My confusion was that it was in the VECC supplemental interrogatories that were filed this morning.  We're just getting copies of that now.  

So, Madam Chair and Panel, I must first apologize to my friend Mr. O’Leary, as it was not EBN that had raised this question, as I had thought -– or the issue of the 18 months, as I’d thought.  I knew a party had; it was fresh in my mind.  I remember speaking with my client about it, and indeed it was in the VECC Interrogatory No. 4 that was filed this morning.  

And as I understand it, the issue that Mr. O'Leary and his client wished to have us consider is the 18-month timing.  And what HONI has suggested in its response to (b) through (d), you will see, is an alternative approach.  

The evidence that HONI has sponsored in this answer is that if completion has not occurred by the end of a transitional time frame, that we would inform the Board and request an extension, and that the Board could then decide what process is required to consider the request.  The position of HONI is that would be a more flexible alternative.

The reason why this is an issue -- that is to say, why commitment around a particular hard-line 18-month or 12-month or six-month or 24-month period is of concern -- is indeed the flexibility.  It's -- what we want to try and avoid is having more process.

     What the issue is with the transition is time necessary to sort out the integration of business systems between the two entities, and wanting to ensure that those transitional issues are up and running and completed before the full amalgamation takes place.


That, as I understand it from my client -- and I'm very leery to go any further than that, because I am just counsel and not the client, but that's the gist of the responses that have been provided on this record.

     Now, again, it strikes me -- to Mr. O'Leary's point -- that the undertaking given this morning does not have a hard-coded 18-month proviso in the relief.  He's right, it doesn't.  And in my respectful submission, at this stage it doesn't need to.


At this stage, what should happen is that the position of the Applicant is clear.  The position of the Applicant through the filing of these interrogatories is clear, that there is a proposed option or alternative approach.


But ultimately it strikes me that if parties have a different view on what should be placed as a condition to any approval, that the best place for that is with respect to final argument, and let the parties make final argument on the point, and let the positions be stated on the record.


It's not appropriate, in my respectful submission, to have Hydro One and Norfolk amend a style of cause or prayer for relief based on the views of an applicant.  We could do that, but it strikes me that it would be better, if it's a point of contention, and it seems to be -- then the question is which position should be preferred and why, and that smells and tastes a lot like argument. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Just a moment, please.


[Board Panel confers]

     MS. CONBOY:  Ms. Sebalj had also mentioned earlier that Board Staff had some concerns with respect to the style of relief as it was drafted in the undertaking today.  So after the break and after Mr. Vellone has had an opportunity for his submissions, we will of course hear from Board Staff.  And to the extent that we need to provide parties with further direction after we have heard from all the parties, then we will do so at that time.


So we will take a 20-minute break now.  It's -- sorry, go ahead.  

     MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry, I was at that 

point where I had completed discussion about the interrogatories.  I did indicate in my roadmap that I had one final area, and that was just sort of clean-up in terms of any other thing that came up and arose out of comments from -- 

     MS. CONBOY:  I see. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  -- my friends.  And I really am going to be brief.  I really have only one new thought that I haven't referred to already, and that is -- and if I may, I'll just continue, because it will be brief, and then I think it is time for a break. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  So why don't you continue with that?  We'll take a break at that point for about 20 minutes, and then start after the break with you, Mr. Vellone.

     MR. NETTLETON:  The only remark that I believe I haven't responded to through my earlier submissions, Panel, is a pretty, what I would say, serious allegation that we keep hearing, and that is this idea that there is some sort of predatory pricing or anti-competitive behaviour that is amuck, and that this Board should be concerned, and that that is the basis to open up the no-harm test and effectively reconsider all of the merits and all of the work that's gone into the no-harm test.


My respectful submission is if there's truly a concern about predatory pricing and abuse of dominant position, those parties seeking to make that type of allegation have two options.

The one option presumably would be to take the matter to government and express concerns to government.  And it would surprise me if that step hasn't already been taken.  But that matter is not relevant to -- for the purposes of this proceeding.

It is relevant, though, to the accusation that's been made.  There are other forums for that type of concern to be expressed.

The second forum, alternative forum, is one relating to the Competition Bureau.  The director of the Competition Bureau is responsible for carrying out investigations into abuse of dominant position.  Complaints are made all the time to the director.  The director is in a position to determine whether there is merit to the complaint or not.  The point being is that that is another forum in which these types of very serious allegations can and have been brought.


What's not clear is if these are so -- if these other avenues exist and haven't been explored, then why are we here in a motion proceeding relating to responses to information requests, talking about, you know, the behaviour that Hydro One Networks Inc. or Hydro One Inc. has allegedly been party to with respect to how it's carried out its affairs in negotiating transactions?

     In my respectful submission, that is completely and 

entirely offside.  It is not a matter that relates to the no-harm test.  It goes specifically to motivations, and it goes specifically to issues related to areas outside of the no-harm test.


There are other forums -- if parties are so serious, there are other forums for those types of issues to be explored, and should be explored if they take them seriously.  

     With that, Madam Chair, and for all of those reasons, in our respectful submission the motion should be denied in its entirety.

The answers to the IR requests is what the focus is of this proceeding.  You should limit the issues in this motion to that, and on that basis, notwithstanding that the motion itself hasn't referred to the Rule.  That seems to be the intent.  It should not be interpreted as a view to review and vary the no-harm test or exploring other issues that should be considered in this proceeding.


The issue has been known, it's been set out, it's been assumed by all parties, and for all of those reasons the responses that have been provided have been reflective of that knowledge and they have been responsive to the questions asked, where relevant.  And where the questions have not been relevant, they have been -- answers have been refused based on that.


So with that, we request that the motion be denied.  Thank you. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Thank you very much, and we have no questions.  So we will resume at quarter after 3:00.

--- Recess taken at 2:53 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 3:16 p.m.

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Be seated, please.

Mr. Vellone, you have a slightly smaller audience now.  

     MR. VELLONE:  We seem to be losing people throughout the day. 

     MS. CONBOY:  We're ready when you are ready.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. VELLONE:
     MR. VELLONE:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  I'm not sure whether your speaker is on yet. 

     MR. VELLONE:  It is; the light is on.  Can you hear me?  Excellent.  

My name is John Vellone, and I am acting as counsel for the one of the Applicants, Norfolk Power Distribution Inc., as well as counsel for the County of Norfolk.  I'm sitting in today for my colleague, Mark Rodger, who was unable to join us.

I just want to start with a short outline of my remarks before moving into the core of my submissions.  

     I intend to start out by setting out Norfolk Power’s position on the motion, followed by a brief policy context to set the background for the application you have before you, moving directly into the Board's no-harm test which it has consistently applied since 2005, and speaking briefly about the industry's broad understanding of the Board's no-harm test, before moving my reply into a limited response on the specific interrogatories that were directed at Norfolk Power that are the subject of this dispute -- and there really are only six of those -- before concluding. 

     I expect my remarks should take about 30 minutes, so I shouldn't be very long.  With that said, I'll start with Norfolk Power's submissions.  

     Norfolk Power respectfully submits the motion should be dismissed in its entirety.  We fully support and endorse the submissions made by my friend, Hydro One, and my intent today is not to repeat those submissions, but rather limit my comments to areas that were not addressed by my friend and to areas of specific concern to Norfolk Power.  

It's going to come as no surprise to the Board Panel that it's Norfolk's position that this motion is being 

brought for an improper purpose.  Specifically, the intervenors are seeking to use, through this motion process, to have the Board expand and change and modify the scope of its well-established and understood no-harm test.  

We raised this concern first in our July 25th letter on confidentiality.  We raised it again in our November 22nd letter on the question of whether additional interrogatories were required.  

     As I was chatting with someone over the break, I was trying to think of a way to explain just what it is that this motion is trying to achieve, and it came up just how cold it looks outside.  And I think what the motion is trying to achieve is a chill on LDC consolidation through a change in the Board's no-harm test. 

     Stepping back for a moment, I just want to give some context to the applications that you see before you.  LDC consolidation, it has been the subject of at least three significant reviews: the Macdonald committee report, the Drummond report, and the latest Distribution Sector Review Panel report.

All three recommended consolidation, and in the case of the Drummond and the latest Distribution Sector Review Panel, categorize savings of over $1 billion.  

What is current provincial policy in this context?  I would ask you to turn to tab 5 of the Norfolk Power 

document brief, which is K1.4.  What you'll see when you get there is a transcript of remarks from our Minister, the Honourable Bob Chiarelli, our Minister of Energy, made at the Electricity Distributors Association gala dinner on March 18, 2013.  I would ask you to turn to page 6 of that transcript.  

Starting at the fourth full line down, the Minister speaks about the Ontario Distribution Sector Review Panel and states:

"The panel undertook a comprehensive review of the distribution sector and presented recommendations that it believes would position the sector to meet the challenges of the future.  The report suggests that there may be $1.2 billion in savings to be realized over the first 10 years.  Many of you told me this is a very achievable target.  The panel's analysis also suggests that there are substantial efficiencies to be found in the sector through consolidation of our distribution companies."

However, the Minister set out what is the current government's policy statement, which is our government will not legislate forced consolidation.  Rather, if you go to the last full line on page 6, you will see:

"As you consider these questions, we want you to keep in mind that while we are interested in promoting consolidation on a voluntary basis in the sector, we must find ways to deliver the savings to ratepayers that the panel identified." 

     It is in this context that this Board now has the 

application before it, and is asked to consider this particular voluntary transaction.  

The transaction was approved with the unanimous support of Norfolk City Council.  Norfolk County, as the owner of the business, saw considerable benefits to its community, including immediate savings in terms of a 1 percent rate reduction and a rate freeze over the next five years.  And it is in this context that we are now here to hear this motion and consider the application of the Board's no-harm test to the interrogatories that are in dispute.  

     Moving now to the no-harm test, it has already been covered by my friend at Hydro One, who laid out six key elements of the Board's no-harm test from the combined MAADs proceeding.

It is not my intent to redo that here now.  The clear focus of this motion is on the relevance of the particular interrogatories in dispute to the Board's no-harm test.  

I would ask you to turn up tab 3 of the Norfolk Power document brief.  What you have before you is a listing of 33 prior Board decisions that have applied the no-harm test.  The list is not intended to be an exhaustive listing of all section 86 decisions; rather, it is simply meant to be illustrative of the number of times that the Board has consistently applied its no-harm test.  The same test each time, consistently applied.

This approach has succeeded in creating predictability and stability in the sector.  The test is widely understood – and I will return to this point again in a moment, but before I do, I want to address one of the issues that my friend at Schools raised in his opening remarks related to rate differentials.

To justify the issue, School Energy Coalition references data from the 2012 Yearbook on electricity distributors.  Schools focuses on the average distribution revenue per customer, and compares that of Hydro One to Norfolk Power.  

My observation is simply this.  Looking at this list of prior decisions that the Board had in respect of applying the no-harm test, similar Yearbook data is available back to 2005, and for many of these cases would have been available to the Board panel and to the parties over the subject of those proceedings.  

     I would also like to address a concern raised by my friend Mr. O'Leary, who suggested that -- and I'm going try to do my best to quote him here -- on each of the prior cases, it was always the lower-cost LDC acquiring a higher-cost LDC.  

Well, I can say I looked at the Yearbook data that was available for each of these prior cases, and can confirm for the Panel that that is not necessarily true.  Many of these cases related to amalgamations of a higher-cost utility with a lower-cost utility.  

     In addition to that -- and I'm just picking one case at random here, number 10 on my list, which is a September 1, 2009 decision of the Board in respect of a section 86 application from FortisOntario.  I went out and I looked at the 2008 Yearbook data in relation to that particular transaction.

The average distribution revenue per customer for Great Lakes Power Distribution was $1,599.25.  The average distribution revenue per customer for Canadian Niagara Power Fortis -- sorry, Fort Erie, a subsidiary of FortisOntario, was $618.20.  

     I think the point that my friends seem to miss here is that this information is simply not relevant to the Board's considerations in determining its no-harm test.  A MAAD application does not require a final approval of rate harmonization.  This is set out in your July 23rd, 2007 report.


To suggest that rates will be harmonized at the end of the five-year period is pure speculation at this stage, pure and simple.  There are many different ways to manage two different LDCs coming together.  One example is to create a standalone rate class or rate base like Veridian did with Gravenhurst.


There is no merit in this proceeding to speculate about the future in this MAADs case.  An OEB panel will deal with rate harmonization if and when it arises as part of a separate rate application.  That is the proper forum.

     The Board's consistent approach to the no-harm test has had some considerable benefits.  One of them is that your test is widely understood across the industry.


I would like you to turn now to tab 4 of the Norfolk Power document brief.  This is an e-mail by -- from Mr. Joe Barile, who is listed on Procedural Order No. 1 as counsel to Essex Powerlines, to around 60 different local distribution companies about their participation in this case.


I'm going to focus on what it has to say about the Board's no-harm test.  Flipping to page 2 of this e-mail, under the heading that begins "Principles", and I quote:

"We recognize that the OEB MAAD approval is based on a very narrow interpretation of the no-harm test.  That is, customers are no worse off after the transaction than they were prior to it.  As such, the premium paid over rate base will likely be an excluded consideration."

     I'll stop the quote there and say that Norfolk Power entirely agrees with that statement.


Moving on, however, and this is where we come to what I would call the improper purpose behind this motion:

"However, should the no-harm test be applied with a broader interpretation, in order to consider the likelihood of rates eventually being harmonized and former Norfolk customers seeing an increase in rates and a decrease in service levels?"

     Our answer to that question is, respectfully, no.


Moving on:

"We also recognize that the OEB may look at the sale as a commercial transaction so they may not concern themselves with the amount of the premium paid or other commercial elements of the sale."


And I'm just going to jump forward here to the conclusions.  On the next page, the second-to-last full paragraph from the bottom:

"We are looking to raise awareness of the long-term effect of these types of purchase and consolidations to the Ontario Energy Board and to the Government of Ontario.  We think that this opportunity should not be missed, as all of our futures could depend on the outcome." 

     So the point here is this.  The Board has consistently and regularly applied its no-harm test, so much so that it is widely understood by the industry, even by the intervenors in the room today.  And it is my submission that the Board should not entertain requests to broaden the scope of its no-harm test as part of this motion to review.  Such an approach would have a chilling effect on future LDC consolidation, which is the underlying intent on this motion. 

     I would like to move on now to the specific IRs and their relevance to the no-harm test.  Hydro One -- counsel for Hydro One, my friend, has spoken to the relevance of all of the disputed IRs.  We support those submissions entirely and intend to focus on a very limited subset of IRs that are the subject of today's motion, that were directed at our client, Norfolk Power, in whole or in part.


In general, those interrogatories fall under three categories.

The first relates to IRs, to the reasonableness of the purchase price being paid.  Those are EBN IR No. 53, SEC IR No. 5, and SEC IR No. 18.


The second category relates to the process used to achieve the current transaction.  Those are SEC IR No. 8 and SEC IR No. 19.


Finally, the third category relates to compensation costs, which is EBN IR No. 26.

     MS. CONBOY:  So if you just give us one minute, please, while we try and figure out all these gadgets and close the windows?  It's not as easy as just pulling it closed.


Sorry, Mr. Vellone.  Please go ahead.  

     MR. VELLONE:  Moving directly into the first category of interrogatories, then, I'm going to be making reference to the School Energy Coalition notice of motion, just to briefly pull up the small subset of interrogatories that I'm going to deal with.


The first category of interrogatories relates to questions around reasonableness of the purchase price being paid.  I would like you to turn up page 75 of the SEC notice of motion, which is EBN Interrogatory No. 53.  

     This question requests a high-level summary of the other bids received for Norfolk Power, then states the types of materials the intervenor would like to see in that summary.

The request was denied on the basis that it is not relevant to the test before the Board.


The second interrogatory that is the subject of this category can be found at page 35 of the SEC notice of motion.  It's SEC Question No. 5.


Similarly, this SEC interrogatory asks for a broad range of documents, reports and analysis related to the purchase price being paid for Norfolk Power, as well as the recovery of that purchase price.  It then goes on to list several examples as to what type of information could be provided.

Again, this IR was denied on the basis that it was not relevant to the no-harm test. 

     Finally, at page 42 of the SEC notice of motion, we see SEC IR No. 18, which requests any evaluations of any of the assets or business as a whole in the possession of Norfolk Power, the County of Norfolk, or the Applicant.

And once again, this was denied on the basis that it simply wasn't relevant to the Board's no-harm test.

     In these interrogatories, the intervenors are not seeking information about the transaction that is currently before the Board for approval.  They are not seeking information to compare the results of that transaction to the status quo.  Rather, EBN is seeking information about other bids that were received for Norfolk Power, and SEC is seeking a broad range of documents that provide an analysis of purchase price, including evaluation of assets.

This information is outside of the scope of the Board's established no-harm test, which focus is not to determine whether or not another transaction, whether real or potential, can have a more positive effect than the one that has been negotiated to completion by Norfolk Power and Hydro One.  

     The Board actually went directly into considering to what extent the selling price of a utility is relevant to its no-harm test at pages 7 and 8 of the combined MAADs proceeding, and the Board states it is of the 

view the selling price of a utility is relevant only if the price paid is so high as to create a financial burden on the acquiring company, which adversely effects economic viability, as any premium paid in excess of the book value of the assets is not normally recoverable through rates.  This position is in keeping with the no-harm test. 

     To the extent that the Board and Panel is concerned that the selling price is so high as to create a financial burden on the acquiring company -- that is, Hydro One -- Board Staff have already requested the relevant information in Board Staff Interrogatory No. 1.2, which was answered.

The evidence is clear.  The impact on Hydro One is de minimus.  The additional information sought by the intervenors in these interrogatories simply will not assist the Board in making such an assessment.  

     The second category of information relates to the process used to arrive at the current transaction.  I would ask you to turn up page 38 of the SEC document brief, which is SEC Interrogatory No. 8.  

     This interrogatory requests from Norfolk a copy of the 

original RFP documents, including all attachments, and was 

declined on the basis of, among other things, setting 

confidentiality aside for now, that it simply wasn't relevant to the no-harm test.  

Flipping forward to page 43 of the SEC document brief, we see SEC Interrogatory No. 19, which asks about confidentiality restrictions on Mr. Brad Randall.  Brad 

Randall is the former president of Norfolk Power, but he is in no position to assist the Board in its assessment of the current transaction that is the subject of this application.  He is no longer employed with Norfolk Power, and left employment prior to this transaction commencing.  Any evidence that he could give is simply not relevant to the no-harm test.  

The Board itself considered to what extent the sales process of a utility is relevant to its no-harm test in its combined proceeding, this time at pages 8 and 9 of the decision.  The Board states:

"A number of other intervenors have raised concerns regarding the adequacy and integrity of the process by which the sellers in these applications decided to sell their utilities.  In most of these cases, the positions have been that perceived deficiencies in the process, such as inadequate public consultation or improper motives, in and of themselves are relevant to the Board's determination of the application.  The Board disagrees.  As a general matter, the conduct of the seller, including the extent of its due diligence or the degree of public consultation in relation to transactions, would not be an issue for the Board on share acquisitions or amalgamations, or applications under section 86.  Based on the no-harm test, the question for the Board is neither the why nor the how of the proposed transaction; rather, the Board's concern is limited to the effect of the transaction when considered in light of the Board's statutory objectives."  

     Moving further down the quote:

"Based on the no-harm test, it is not clear how a flawed decision-making process, even if it could be demonstrated, would in and of itself provide grounds to oppose the applications.  Certainly it would not, in and of itself, be grounds for denying the applications.  The no-harm test is substantive and addresses the effect of the proposed transaction.  It is not a process test that addresses the rationale for or the process underlying the proposed transaction.”  

The RFP documentation which is the subject of these two interrogatories was highly confidential, and was only provided to potential bidders after signing confidentiality agreements.  They relate solely to the bid solicitation process that led to the transaction that is now 

before the Board.  It is simply not relevant to the no-harm test that addresses the particulars of and effect of the proposed transaction that is now before the Board.  

Similarly, any testimony of Mr. Randall would not be relevant to the Board's no-harm test. 

     The final category of interrogatories, of which there is only one, relates to compensation costs, and that is EBN Interrogatory No. 26, which can be found at page 63 of the School Energy Coalition notice of motion.  

This question asks two separate but related questions, the first in respect of an organizational chart of an operations department, which was provided as an 

attachment in a response.  The second part of the question seeks the total compensation costs for each of the positions identified in the chart.  

The answer was denied because it's simply not 

relevant to the Board's no-harm test.  SEC claims that the 

information is required to determine whether HONI exercised 

commercial judgment to see whether or not the no-harm test was met.  

Testing Hydro One's motive of what SEC calls "commercial judgment" is simply not in the scope of the Board's established no-harm test.  In addition, the information sought relates to the compensation of identifiable individuals, and constitutes personal information under FIPA and is highly confidential. 

     I'm going to conclude my comments today with a quote from Mr. David Butters' remarks to the steering committee on justice policy made this past October:

"APPrO's vision is for an Ontario electricity sector which is economically and environmentally sustainable and supports the business interests of electricity generators, ratepayers, and the provincial economy.  It's a tough assignment, but we've been advocating it since 1989.  How can we achieve this?  First, we need a stable and predictable policy and regulatory climate over the long run."

"A stable and predictable policy and regulatory climate over the long run"; Norfolk Power agrees.  The moving parties seek today to challenge the limits of the Board's no-harm test.  It is a direct challenge to the stability and predictability that the Board has created through its clearly articulated no-harm test, which has been consistently applied and is widely understood by the 

industry as a whole.  It is also contrary to the provincial policy in context of an LDC consolidation.  

In our conclusions, our submissions are that these -- this motion is being brought for mostly an improper purpose, and should be rejected by the Ontario Energy Board.  Thank you.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


QUESTIONS BY BOARD PANEL:  

     MS. FRY:  I do have a question for you, Mr. Vellone, very similar to the question I asked Mr. Shepherd.

Now, you have referred us to a few reports 

concerning consolidation, and statements concerning government policy.  And I'm assuming the reason you referred us to them is you believe the Board should take them into account.  

As you know, the Board operates in its jurisdiction within the four corners of its legislation.  So could you just make the linkages to which part of our legislation you believe requires us to take these things into account? 

     MR. VELLONE:  I wouldn't say that that Board is 

required to take provincial policy into account in assessing its no-harm test.  That is certainly not the submissions I'm making; it’s not the impression I hope I left with you.  

The purpose of bringing to light the policy context that I did in my opening remarks was simply to set the context or the framework within which the Applicants have operated to bring the application before the Board today.  It is not to suggest that the Board is bound to impose or apply provincial policy; rather, the Board's question 

today is the application of its own no-harm test. 

     MS. FRY:  Are you suggesting -- just to be clear, are you suggesting that the Board is able to take those things into account?  

     MR. VELLONE:  To the extent that they gave rise to these applications, I think so.

     MS. FRY:  And do you see linkages to our legislation that would tell us we're able to do that?

     MR. VELLONE:  I wouldn't be able to refer you to them off the top of my head.

     MS. FRY:  Could you undertake to check on that and get back to us?


MR. VELLONE:  Yeah.


MS. FRY:  Thank you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, can I just interject here?  I am concerned that my friend is then being invited to provide further argument after my reply, and I don't think that's a proper... 

     [Board Panel confers]

     MS. FRY:  Mr. Shepherd, you've made a valid point.  And Mr. Vellone, we're going to let you off the hook. 

     MR. VELLONE:  I can provide a further answer now if that would be helpful.  That would give my friend an opportunity to reply to it --

     MS. FRY:  Sure.  That would be helpful. 

     MR. VELLONE:  -- if he needs to.


We raised the public policy context as a general discussion around the policy environment that surrounds the application before the Board.  It is your prerogative as to whether or not you think it's relevant to take judicial notice of that broader public policy context to apply it to your no-harm tests.  So ultimately the discretion is yours to make as to whether or not you think it is relevant. 

     MS. FRY:  Thank you.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


Thank you.  We have no further questions, Mr. Vellone.  Thank you very much for your submissions.


Ms. Sebalj?


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. SEBALJ:
     MS. SEBALJ:  Good afternoon.  Board Staff's submissions will be hopefully brief, made more so by the able submissions of my friends and colleagues.

     We are going to focus on the categories under which the disputed interrogatories are listed in the Schools motion and the relevance to the proceeding.  We will not be going into detail -- I'm sure you'll be thankful -- with respect to each and every interrogatory, although we will address the two Board Staff interrogatories that were included in Schools' motion.  

     Just by way of context and to give you a reason to look at the pieces of paper you got this morning, we are going to be -- our submissions will be guided by a few documents, one that you've heard about quite frequently today, and that's the combined proceeding.  The other sort of high-level document is the Board's report.  It's entitled:  "Ratemaking associated with distributor consolidation," and you should have that before you.  It's dated July 23rd, 2007.  


I'm in your hands as to whether you want to mark it for information or -- I mean, it is a Board policy document, so either way --

     MS. CONBOY:  I realize that it is, but why don't we do that for ease of reference, when people are going back and --


MS. SEBALJ:  Sure.


MS. CONBOY:  -- referring to the transcript? 

     MS. SEBALJ:  And before we mark this one, we didn't mark Mr. O'Leary's cases.  I only have the Toronto Hydro street lighting case.  You referred to Union as well.  But do we want to mark street lighting?  Okay.  It's referred to in the Toronto Hydro...


So if you don't mind, we'll mark the Toronto Hydro street lighting case, which is EB-2009-0180, et cetera -- there are a number of docket numbers -- K1.5.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  TORONTO HYDRO STREET LIGHTING CASE, EB-2009-0180 ET AL.


MS. SEBALJ:  And then the Board's report of July 23rd, 2007 as K1.6.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  BOARD'S REPORT OF JULY 23, 2007

MS. SEBALJ:  And then I also will be referring to two cases that haven't otherwise -- they are on Norfolk Power's list, but were not included in their entirety, and those are EB-2007-0749, which is Niagara Falls Hydro and Peninsula West Utilities, which I'll mark at K1.7.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  NIAGARA FALLS HYDRO AND PENINSULA WEST UTILITIES CASE, EB-2007-0749


MS. SEBALJ:  And EB-2006-0186, which is Greater Sudbury and West Nipissing, and that will be K1.7 -- oh, sorry, K1.8.   Counting is not required, apparently.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.8:  GREATER SUDBURY AND WEST NIPISSING CASE, EB-2006-0186

     MS. SEBALJ:  So this will be hopefully not too repetitive, but there is some repetition in our submissions.

As you've heard, the principles set out in the Board's combined proceeding are the ones that Board Staff commends to the Board as the appropriate lens -- to use Mr. Nettleton's language -- through which you should be making your decisions with respect to the 51 interrogatory responses that are in dispute.  


That test is the no-harm test, and it's a consideration as to whether the proposed transaction -- and I underline "transaction" -- would have an adverse effect relative to the status quo in relation to the Board's statutory objectives.  And the two main objectives, again, have been -- have been provided to you to a couple of times already today.  

     As Mr. Vellone has indicated, the test has been reiterated and applied in virtually every MAADs decision of the Board, and it's certainly repeated almost verbatim in each of the cases that I have provided to you.  I should mention that I'll also be referring to EB-2005-0234, which is at tab 4 of Hydro One's book.


According to the no-harm test, if the proposed transaction has a positive or neutral effect on the attainment of the statutory objectives, then the application should be granted.  And just so that you can see that language, K1.7, which is case EB-2007-0749, that language is at page 3, paragraph 1, basically the last sentence:

"If the proposed transaction would have a positive or neutral effect on the attainment of the statutory objectives, then the application should be granted."


Which essentially is just another way of saying that it has no harm.  I find it helpful to look at the flip side as well.


Mr. Nettleton has taken you through the test in some detail, including the history and the principles that stem out of the test; for example, whether and how the Board considers issues of price, motivations behind the transactions, rates and harmonization.


In addition, in Schools' motion, Schools has indicated that the appropriate test is the no-harm test, at paragraph 13.


Staff, as I've indicated, agrees that the correct test is the no-harm test, with the characterization of the test by Hydro One Networks and Hydro One Inc. as the lens that the Board should use in determining the relevance of the information -- sorry, the information request, the interrogatories in dispute, and with the description of the issues or principles which the Board has established in the combined proceeding and reinforced in subsequent MAADs cases following the combined proceeding -- following the combined proceeding, some of which we'll make specific submissions on in a few moments.  We will therefore not repeat any of this unless the Board requires any specific clarifications following our submissions.  


Before we get into our more specific submissions with respect to the categories of interrogatory responses for which Schools seeks further and better answers, we did want to provide some context which has not yet been provided today.  

The combined proceeding set the stage in terms of the no-harm test and the principles stemming therefrom.  But in our submission, the Board should also be guided by the report which I've referred to and which is now marked as K1.6.  

I note that this policy postdates the combined proceeding by almost two years, and I mention that 

only because the context of the combined proceeding was there when this report was issued by Board.  

And I don't want to overstate what the report speaks to; the report is fairly narrow in scope.  If you turn to page 1 or -- I guess it's I, (i), it provides the table of contents.

And so it really is about the Board’s scope, its approach, and the regulatory treatment of costs and savings.  Specifically, it deals with the timing 

for retaining the savings and the costs net impacts of the timing of rebasing -- so this issue of how long the acquirer can basically stay out of the Board and continue to retain the cost and savings -- and it also addresses rate harmonization.  So it doesn't address all of the things the no-harm test does, but I think it provides 

good context.  

     The first paragraph of the report -- and you don't have to flip through it, but I just wanted to provide some sort of high-level view of where the Board was when it was thinking about these things.\

The first paragraph of the report at page 1 says:

"Earlier this year, the Board initiated a consultative..."

Sorry, I clearly transposed this

"... a consultative process focusing on the regulatory treatment of certain rate-related issues associated with consolidation in the electricity distribution sector.  The purpose of the consultation was to assist the Board in developing a policy framework on relevant ratemaking issues and to provide greater predictability for distributors and other stakeholders in relation to those issues."

So this concept of providing predictability.  

In the last paragraph on the same page, the second sentence says:

"Application of a policy will create a more predictable regulatory environment for distributors that are considering consolidation, thereby facilitating planning and decision-making and assisting distributors in determining the value of consolidation transactions."  

     At page 4, the first full paragraph -- and this is now in the context.  We were in the introduction before, and now we're in the context of discussing the treatment of costs and savings.  The report says:

"There are different circumstances among distributors and different motivations for consolidation transactions.  Each transaction may be based on a different rationale, and each offers the potential for different kinds of benefits that vary in nature, timing and certainty.  Given the diversity of distributors in Ontario, it is a challenge to design and implement regulatory mechanisms to meet all their needs.  Nonetheless, a general approach can recognize diversity, and can do so without compromising predictability."

And it goes on to talk about the timing of rebasing, which is one of the main aspects of the report.  

     I'm bringing these parts of the report to your attention only to highlight that the Board clearly contemplated the diversity of distributors and the types of transactions in the universe of MAADs that it might expect to receive.  

So to now suggest that the Board should apply a different set of principles, or even a different gloss on the same set of principles in the policy –- or, if we want to transpose it to the no-harm test -- and I agree that is a leap, though I'm not sure it's a very big one, because the inquiring entity is large and allegedly high-rate, low-productivity.  Staff thinks this is inconsistent with the policy.  

If what is being challenged today is the validity of the policy itself or of the no-harm test or its application, the application of the no-harm test, then 

we agree with the submission of Hydro One.  This is not the forum for such a challenge, and by that I mean certainly not this motion nor this case at large.  

I would think there would be much more interest generated if the policy or the test were being challenged, and for myriad reasons including notice, timing, potentially jurisdiction and others, this is not the time or the place, in Staff’s submission, to discuss this.  

     So with those preamble remarks, moving to the first category, which -- the first category of interrogatory responses -- and again I'm working with Schools’ categorization, which was rate differential and rate harmonization – Schools' first category related to the potential harm that may be caused in the future to Norfolk Power ratepayers as a result of a potential increase at the time of harmonization with Hydro One legacy customers.  

     Schools states that if Hydro One completes the acquisition, the rates charged to Norfolk are expected at some time in the future to be harmonized with the rates charged to Hydro One customers, and if the rates charged to  Hydro One customers at the time are higher than the rates charged to Norfolk customers without the acquisition, Norfolk will receive incremental rate hike, and alleges that that rate hike may be very large, although admittedly Schools says it doesn't know how large.  

Schools states the Board's objectives include the mandate to protect the interest of consumers with respect to prices, and that the ratepayers of Norfolk will have higher future rates as a direct result of the acquisition and relative to the status quo, and therefore the no-harm test isn't met.  

     Board Staff agrees with Schools that the objectives include the mandate to protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices.  In our view, however, there is adequate information on the record of this proceeding to allow the Board to determine the effect of the transaction on prices in the foreseeable future.  

Specifically, we note Norfolk Power is seeking approval to implement a negative rate rider that will result in a further 1 percent reduction from the OEB-approved 2012 rates upon completion of the acquisition.  In addition, Hydro One proposes to freeze Norfolk Power's rates for five years upon completion. 

     We note that any future rate changes will be the subject of a rate proceeding, and interested parties will be given notice of that proceeding and would have an opportunity for input on the proposed rate change.  

     In the Board's report of July 23, 2007, to which I have referred already, at page 7 there's a statement – sorry, it’s the last sentence on page 7:

"However, the issue of rate harmonization in the context of a consolidation transaction is better examined at the time of rebasing, because this is when the consolidated entity will apply for its combined revenue requirement."

And on the next page, it goes on to say:

"Distributors that consolidate will therefore be required to address the issue of rate harmonization at the time of rate rebasing of the consolidated entity.  The distributor will need to provide a statement as to whether it intends to undertake rate harmonization, or, if not, the justification for not doing so.  Where the distributor does intend to harmonize rates, the distributor will be required to file its proposed plan at the time of rebasing."

     We also refer you to the Board's decision in EB-2006-0186, which we've marked as K1.8, and this is the application by Greater Sudbury Hydro for leave to amalgamate with West Nipissing -- and unless I'm forgetting, it was one of the original ones that ended up in the combined proceeding.  

     At page 4 of that decision, the second full paragraph -- I just want to find it for you -– yes, the second full paragraph:

"As the Board noted in PO No. 1, considerations respecting rates are best dealt with in a rates proceeding.  In the rates proceeding, specifics of any proposed rate harmonization plan can be fully explored on a record which contains all of the requisite detail."

And then it goes on to talk about this specific proceeding.  

     In the current proceeding, Hydro One indicated that it will not pursue any form of rate harmonization until 2020, and specifically Hydro One's amended evidence indicates that at the time of rebasing in 2020, it may propose to create a new acquired customer rate classes, move acquired customers to an appropriate existing Hydro One rate class, or some other option.  

Board Staff submits in a rates proceeding, specifics of any proposed rate harmonization plan or any other rate proposal from Hydro One Networks can be fully explored on a record which contains all of the requisite detail.  Again, parties in the current proceeding will have an opportunity to intervene and make their views known at the time.  

We therefore submit that the Board in this MAAD proceeding should not assess the impact of the transaction before it on a potential rate increase at the time of harmonization.  The question of rates and rate harmonization is a future issue that will be the subject of a future Board review.


The Board has clearly turned its mind to this particular aspect of consolidation transactions and has expressed a firm policy.  It has applied that policy to defer the consideration of rate impacts to a rebasing proceeding, where the more detailed information can be examined and the issue appropriately addressed.  We therefore conclude that no further responses are required for the interrogatory responses relating to future rates.  

     At this time, I'll say that Board Staff notes that with respect to IR No. 7.2, which is at page 20, 21A and 23 of the Schools' motion, that interrogatory asks Hydro One Networks to provide its plans to address the rate differentials between the two service territories at the time of harmonization.  It's one of the IRs that Schools has indicated -- has put in its motion.


We just wanted to clarify that this IR was based on the original evidence indicating that Hydro One expected to harmonize Norfolk's rates with Hydro One's rates in 2020, and in our view, based on the original evidence, a response would have been informative, but because now they have indicated that they don't know at this time and they don't have a harmonization plan at this time, we understand that a description of a plan that doesn't exist cannot be provided.


With respect to this second category of interrogatory responses that are in dispute, which is the acquisition price, we note that a considerable number of the IRs relate to the price paid by Hydro One and the process for arriving at the price.  And I won't repeat the quote that I think has been repeated by both my friends at Hydro One and at Norfolk, but essentially price is only relevant if it causes a financial burden to the acquirer.


We think that there is adequate information on the record of this proceeding to determine whether the acquiring company's financial viability will be affected.  As indicated by both Hydro One and Norfolk, no one is -- has even asked questions about that issue, much less contested it, given the financial statements of Hydro One Inc. totalling more than 20 billion.


We also note that there is also clear evidence on the record that only the net book value of the transaction will be passed on to ratepayers, which we think is important.

     We therefore submit that no further responses are required with respect to the interrogatories relating to the acquisition price.  

     With respect to the interrogatories listed under price but that relate to transaction costs and efficiencies, productivity gains resulting from the proposed transactions, Staff wanted to remind the Board that Applicants -- sorry, that the two Applicants state that the transaction costs will not be recovered in rates; also that the Applicants do not have to prove efficiencies or benefits to pass the no-harm test, and again, interested parties will have an opportunity to explore costs and benefits at the time of Hydro One's next rebasing.

     Finally, moving on to Board Staff IR No. 4.2, which was -- which is, I think, the first page of the IRs, page 21, Schools categorize this IR as a price-related IR.  Board Staff disagrees with this categorization.

It related to moving Hydro One's Dundas field business centre from Hamilton to the Town of Simcoe, and specifically asked Hydro One to indicate the impact of moving the field business centre to Hamilton -- sorry, from Hamilton to the Town of Simcoe, and then asked it to provide the cost of moving the office and indicate whether the cost was included in the incremental transaction costs.


What we wanted was to assess the impact of the move on Hydro One Networks' customers and to have Hydro One Networks clarify whether the costs were considered transaction costs.


Hydro One's response is the Dundas field business centre provides technical, scheduling and administrative support to all of Hydro One Networks' zone 2 operations, which includes both the Norfolk and Dundas areas.


The effectiveness of the field business centre is not dependent on geography, as it is not a service centre.  As a result, there will be no negative impact to Hydro One Network Inc.'s customers by relocating the Dundas field business centre.  


Hydro One Networks has been assessing the need to vacate the Dundas office for several years, due to the age of the facility.  The relocation of the field business centre to the Town of Simcoe will provide a viable solution.


Hydro One Network Inc.'s response to IR 4.2 was that neither the cost nor the benefits of moving the centre are included in the incremental transition costs.


Board Staff takes note of the fact that Hydro One's counsel this morning indicated that this was asked and answered, and we just wanted to indicate that a clarification at some point in the case as we move forward would be helpful with respect to whether the move is a direct result of this transaction or not.  But we do understand that with respect to this IR in particular, that it was asked and answered in the context of the question provided, but because there is -- because the utility alludes to the fact that this has been contemplated for several years, it's difficult to ascertain from the answer whether it is a direct result of the transaction, and if so, why -- and if it is, why the costs would not be part of the transition costs.  

     With respect to the third category of interrogatories that don't fit into either of the two categories of rates or price, Board Staff submits that these are clarifying questions at best and are not determinative.


And with that, those are the end of our submission with respect to the motion itself.  We did want to take two more minutes to talk about the style of cause that was provided. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Please. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  Essentially, our concern stems from the one, two, third paragraph, which says:

"If the Board grants approval to section 86(2)(b), as stated above, upon filing notice to the Board of completion of integration of Norfolk Power Distribution Inc..."


And it's the words "upon filing notice."  We want -- sorry, we want -- we would like to have clarification with respect to those words.  Indicates a future filing.  Our understanding was that it was a present request, that you are asking this of the Board now, and you've create -- this "upon filing notice" means that at some point in the future which is unknown, at an unknown time, this Board will have to make a further decision, which is awkward at best.  

     The second concern was two paragraphs down from that:  "Approval for leave to transfer/assign NPDI's distribution licence".  We assumed the words "and rate order" should be there.  So just a question, because that would be consistent with the original -- well, at least the November 22nd request.  

     And then the third sort of point was reconciliation with what is in the VECC Interrogatory 4, List 2, which is this concept of -- as I think Mr. O'Leary indicated, if completion has not occurred by the end of the transitional time frame, a time frame which is left open at this point, would be for Hydro One to inform the Board and request an extension.


So it leaves things very much up in the air as to the time frames by which this notice of completion would be filed, if it is filed, and it's an open-ended approval, essentially, if the Board provides it.  It could take years to finalize the transaction, and that's, in our submission, not appropriate.  

     With that, I have nothing further. 

     MS. CONBOY:  If you could just give us a minute, please.


[Board Panel confers]

     MS. CONBOY:  Before we hear Mr. Shepherd's reply, Mr. 

Nettleton, we will give you the opportunity to respond briefly to Board Staff's three areas of concern that they had with the request for relief, if you so choose. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I think instead of doing this off-the-cuff, let us take a look at these suggested concerns and we would -- now I'm thinking of the trap that Mr. Vellone almost fell into.  I was going to offer to send in a letter to provide comments on Ms. Sebalj’s concerns.  I don’t know if that troubles Mr. 

Shepherd or not. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  Not at all.  This is not part of this motion.  It has nothing to do with this motion, and frankly, I don't know why your time would be wasted redrafting the prayer for relief to get it right. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  I don't think it's a question of getting it right.  I think it's a question of clarification, and I would like the opportunity and could either do it by way of a letter, or do it by way of whatever further process the Board sets down.

And again, my submissions are if we're going to a process where there will be written final argument, which is, I think, what has been contemplated, at least to date, these concerns are certainly ones that could be addressed in final argument with whatever clarifications that could be given by Hydro One. 

Simply put, the concept here is that the relief sought is the relief sought.  The idea is we would not seek to or want to come back to the Board to file a notice to get the approval of a notice; that the notice is satisfactory.  The simple concept is that there are -- we have the approvals.  We will – as soon as the transition has taken effect, a notice would be filed and then the rest of the relief could then kick in.  

But I think again –- I’m reining myself in to say I don’t want to do this off-the-cuff.  I would rather take the time and effort to review what Staff's comments were and provide a response. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Fair enough.  As you say, it is your client's application, and to the extent that it may –- some  of these may form conditions of the Board's decision.  We will deal with it at that point.  Everybody understands that there are some concerns with respect to the uncertainty, or the submitted uncertainty with respect to the request now, and we'll have the opportunity to address those in submissions.  

So we'll leave it at that.  And without further ado, we will –- oh, sorry.

[Board Panel confers] 

     MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Shepherd, the floor is yours.


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  After I held myself to 30 minutes, I thought that would mean that we’d have a short day.  I do not -- I sort of set myself a hard stop of one hour.  I hope that's okay with the Board.  I think I can get through all of these reply submissions in one hour.  But I'm replying to three hours of argument, so it is a little challenging, but I'll do my best.  

If that is a concern, can the Board let me know now, or -- 

     MS. CONBOY:  Well, we're not planning on coming back tomorrow, and this is your opportunity and I will ask you to be as brief as you can, and we'll give you an hour. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I want to start with what is the apparent theme of the submissions of Mr. Nettleton, 

Mr. Vellone and Ms. Sebalj, and the theme is this.  Look at the past decisions, look at the actual words in the past decisions -- don't look at what they actually were talking about.  Look at the actual words and play lawyer.  That's what they want you to do.

What they do not want you to do is look at this actual transaction, look at the statute under which you are required to operate and protect the ratepayers.  

Nobody -- and I invite everybody to read the transcript and find once that the Applicant said:  This is how the ratepayers get protected here.  In fact, they said on price, you can't think about price.  Sorry, you’re not allowed to talk about price.  If they have a rate increase, tough luck for them.  

     So at some point somebody has to protect the ratepayers.  And what we heard Ms. Sebalj say is:  Well, no, we're going to do that later when they already are Hydro One customers.  Then we'll see what we can do to protect them, but not today; that's not part of your job today.  So that's a theme that I see in this.  

     Now, my friends say:  Well -- and my friend Mr. Vellone said that this motion was brought with an improper purpose.  And I'm sure he didn't -- improper purpose, in legal terms, implies something scurrilous, and I am sure he didn’t intend that.  But it is very charged language to say you did something procedurally for an improper purpose.  It is very charged language.  

So I'm not going to beat him up over it, but that is not the case.  It's not for an improper purpose, especially since the improper purpose that he says is the reason why we brought this application was to put a chill on distributor consolidation.  

Members of the Board, how many times has the School Energy Coalition jumped up and down and said:  More consolidation, more consolidation?  How many times have we been fighting to get the sector rationalized in an appropriate way?

So we want to chill on consolidation?  That's not sensible.  Well, I'll leave that aside for now.  

     The other thing that is said is -- and this was also Mr. Vellone.  He says what we’re doing here is we're challenging the no-harm test.  And I'm going to take you to the decisions, because I could play lawyer too.  But we're not actually challenging the no-harm test.  We agree with the no-harm test, and we said so right in our submission that, yes, the test is the no-harm test.  

But if this Board hasn't considered how it applies to a certain type of situation, then somebody has got to do it.  That's you.  So this Board has never considered how do you apply the no-harm test in the context of predatory pricing.  Nobody has ever looked at that question.  

How do you apply the no-harm test in the context of an acquirer whose rates are twice as much as the rates of the acquiree?  Nobody has ever talked about that, and Mr. Vellone gave an example -- an interesting example, the Algoma example -- and his example was, you know, the one party had $1,600 per customer and the other was $600.  It was the acquirer who had the lower amount; the acquiree had the higher.  So in fact, he was making the case.  

So what I would like to do is I would like to start by going through the cases, starting with the document brief of Hydro One, because it's important.  If you are going to be looking at those cases, it's important that you actually look at what the cases were about and what they said.  

     Let's start with tab 2 of the Hydro One materials.  In tab 2, we see that –- if you look at the bottom of page 2 and the top of page 3, the Board was very specific about the things that it was concerned with.  It was concerned with two things: adequacy of purchase price –- not:  Do we consider the purchase price?  But adequacy; is it enough?

And secondly, adequacy of public consultation, public disclosure, et cetera.  And this, by the way, is all to do with the seller, not the buyer.  

So those are the things the Board was concerned with in the combined proceeding.  In fact, if you go to tab 1, the second-last page of tab 1 of the materials, you'll see that these are in fact Issues 5 and 6 on the draft Issues List that the Board was using in these cases.


So the Board also said:  By the way, we'd like to hear input on anything else, but these are the things we're concerned with, those two issues.


So then what it said is, on page 5 -- and here's the ratio of the case, if you like, in legal terms -- that if you look at the last paragraph:

"Most parties to the proceeding stated, and the Board agrees, that the following are the factors.  One, what impact will the transaction have on the interests of consumers with respect to prices..."

Et cetera, et cetera, reliability, quality, and so on.

"And second, what impact will the transaction have on economic efficiency and cost-effectiveness?"


And remember, the Board is saying these are the factors to be considered.  So yes, the no-harm test, absolutely, for sure.  But keep in mind these are the factors to be considered, and the reason for that is because that's what your statute says.  Doesn't matter what the no-harm test says.  If your statute says something, that's what you must do.


And you could -- the no-harm test can be an interpretation of and can apply in appropriate circumstances, as indeed it applies here, but your statute is what tells you what you must do.


So in this case it says -- the first is:

"... what impact will the transaction have on the interests of consumers with respect to prices..."

I would ask you, how can you do that if you are not allowed to look at evidence with respect to rates?  How can you do that?


Ms. Sebalj says:  Well, that's okay, because if you look at just five years, that's all right.  That's enough.

That's not enough.  That's part of the question; that's not all of the question.


So is it five years, or what about two years?  If Hydro One said:  Well, we're going to freeze rates for two years, and then we're going to double it, is that okay?  The answer:  No.  Of course not.  

     Then secondly:

"... what impact will the transaction have on economic efficiency and cost-effectiveness?"

And it talks about the maintenance of a financially viable electricity industry.  How can you do that without considering the impact of this transaction on the marketplace?  Is there some way you can do that without -- while at the same time saying:  Any information on how it impacts on the market, we're not going to look at it?  Answer:  No.  

     So if you go to the next page, page 6, here is what the actual test is, and this is what the Board has agreed with:

"If the applicant can establish that there will be no harm in terms of the factors set out in section 1 of the Act, then leave should be granted."


That's in fact the no-harm test.  

     So then the Board goes on, on page 7, to look at whether the Board should consider the price that's been negotiated.  And it says -- if you look under "Price" below, it says:

"The Board is of the view that the selling price of a utility is relevant only if the price paid is so high as to create a financial burden."


Et cetera, et cetera.  You've heard it three times already.


But let's keep in mind the issue in these cases was an undervalue.  It was not too high a price.  That was not the issue in any of these cases.  And indeed, if we go to all the other cases, it's not the issue in those ones either.

     The issue in this case was an underpayment, and there is no case that has ever been before the Board in which the issue of predatory pricing has been raised, ever.


So my friends say you have to apply the no-harm test according to what the Board said in the past.  Well, the Board has not said anything about predatory pricing in the past.  It's a new issue.  It's something that you have to deal with.  You can't leave it to other Board panels to have dealt with it, because they haven't.  

     So then go on to the next one.  My friend talked about the fact that we can't look at the why and the how, and that's a quote from this decision.  But what is that actually about?  Well, the issue in this case was the actions of the seller -- of the sellers, I guess -- and as it says in the bottom paragraph:

"The conduct of the seller generally and the process by which they considered the bids to purchase their utilities."


That's what the issue was about.  It had nothing to do with the analysis by the purchaser.  Zero.  That was never raised in this case, or any other case, as far as I know.  I've certainly never seen a reference to that anywhere. 

     So again, the question of whether the purchaser has an inappropriate approach to their purchase process has never been considered by the Board, as far as I know.  I believe that's true.  And so that's now new for you.  There is no precedent for you to fall back on.  That's for you to decide.  

     Then finally, I want to talk about the actual decision in the case, and that's on page 13.  The actual decisions on the case is -- the factors are -- this is in the bottom paragraph:

"The factors to be considered are those set out in section 1 of the Act."


That's step one.  They have already said the no-harm test is how we do this:

"The factors to be considered are those set out in section 1..."


So my friends didn't refer to section 1, because section 1 hurts them.  But that's all we're concerned with, really, is section 1, because that's what the statute tells you to do.

     And then the Board goes on to say:

"The purchase price paid and the adequacy of the process followed by the selling entity are not issues for the Board in any of the three applications that are the subject of this proceeding."

     So my friends want to expand that to mean, no, you can't look at anybody's motivation.  You can't look at how anybody approached the transaction, because the Board once said you can't look at the seller's process.


My friends want to say price is completely irrelevant, because the Board said in this case adequacy of price is not relevant.  

     All right.  Let me then turn to tab 3.  Tab 3 was -- is a -- is Veridian's acquisition of Gravenhurst.  And in this case, if you look at page 6, the Board, as correctly pointed out by my friends, says:

"The no-harm test is what is used, and the no-harm test looks at the effect of a transaction, not the reason for or the process preceding the transaction."


Once more, at no point was predatory pricing at issue.  In fact, it was considered an undervalue.  And at no point were the -- was the process used by the purchaser considered.  Well, this case doesn't help.  

     But what is interesting here is that the Board found that these things were relevant, starting on page 8, the projection that there will be $93 per customer of savings.  On page 10:

"Rates for customers in GATI's service area are not anticipated to be higher than rate levels that would otherwise apply in the absence of the transactions contemplated by the application."

     So both costs and rates were relevant here.  And by the way, you'll see that in virtually all of the other decisions too that the Board looked at costs and rates, because, of course, how can you look at prices if you don't look at costs and rates?  How can you protect consumers with respect to prices if you don't look at costs and rates?  You can't.

     And the Board went on to say that in light of that list of factors, including rates, including costs:

"In light of the above, the Board is satisfied that the transactions..."

Et cetera, et cetera:

"... will not have an adverse effect."

     Go on to number 4, tab 4.  Tab 4, if you look at page 3, this is the acquisition of Aurora by Powerstream, and in this case the share purchase agreement actually said:  We, Powerstream, guarantee Aurora that in 10 years you will get at least $10 million in rate savings through harmonization.  We guarantee that.

And the Board went on later to say:  And that's relevant.


Well, why would the rate savings in that case be relevant, but the rate costs -- which I'm going get to in a second -- in this case not be relevant?  Why would that be true?  

     So in fact, none of the issues relating to this case were rate-related issues.  The Board concluded in this case that in fact rates were not a problem; go on.  

And then I -– I could take you through the details of what they say, but I don't think it matters.  I think it's pretty clear; $10 million over 10 years isn't bad.  

     Then go to number 5.  Now, number 5 is interesting, because I think it’s the first case to say rates are better dealt with in a rate application.  I don't think there are any other cases before this one, which is Greater Sudbury, to say that.  

Let me first deal with the price issue, and the price issue in this case was it was too low.  Doesn't help anybody; predatory pricing not an issue.  

Then there was a concern -- there was a guarantee that 

rates for residential customers would go down.  But in this case, there was an issue raised by one group -- and this is not, by the way, in the context of the Issues List or the discovery process, where it was an open question.  This is at the end, when the Board is making its decision.  

They didn't seem to have any information about commercial customers.  It doesn't appear they had ever asked for it.  It was raised at the end, and the Board said:  Look, residential customers are going to be fine.  Commercial customers will be dealt with in a rate case.  

     I should note, in that context, that if you take a look at page 10, there was a forecast of a 15 percent reduction in operating cost as a result of the merger.  So my view is that the Board saw in this case that the rate issue wasn't a very big one, because the underlying driver -- that is, cost -- was going to go down.  

So we've asked questions about both the underlying driver, cost, and the rates themselves.  And my friends refused to answer both sets of questions.  Not relevant, either of them.  Well, in this case, they were.  

     Then I want to go to number 6, tab 6, and this is the sale of -- the sale of Bruce-to-Milton, I guess, to a limited partnership, and rates were going to up.  And the Board said:  Well, that's a concern, and the Board actually looked at that as an issue.  Yes, there's a concern that rates will go up.  But it said, if you look at page 4, that the cost will be -- that additional costs to ratepayers will be offset by tax savings.  

So the point, of course, is that the Board in that case thought it was appropriate to look at the impact of rates, and future rates, and whether there was a net cost to the ratepayers.  And they solved it by saying:  Well, yes, there's a reduction that will benefit the ratepayers, so in the end they will be fine.  

So why would that be okay and relevant there, but not here?

I want to take you through those decisions.  There's probably more, but six decisions is enough for me.  But the point is a general one.

All these quotes out of the decisions, these quotes are taken out of context. You see when you look at the context, it's different.  When you look at the context, the Board wasn't deciding the thing that my friends say they were deciding.  They make an offhand -- the Board -- Mr. Kaiser in the combined decision makes an offhand comment that a high purchase price would be a problem, because it could hurt the purchaser.  But not before him at any time was the question:  What if the high purchase price has a detrimental effect on the marketplace?  What if the high purchase price is part of a strategy to prevent other bidders from bidding?  He didn't have that question before him.

So my friends can't rely on that as a basis for saying you can't look at that.  It's wrong.  It's not the policy.  

All right.  Now, I want to go back to the comments of my friend Mr. Nettleton.  Unfortunately I didn't have a chance to organize these because I'm following right along with the submissions, but I'll do my best to be as logical as I possibly can. 

So I want to take you to tab 1 of the Hydro One materials, and I want to just ask you the questions -- the following questions:  Issue No. 1, the second-last page of that tab 1, this was the Issues List that was being used before the combined decision.  The second-last page, Issue 1 is the effect of the proposed transaction on the interests of electricity consumers with respect to prices.  So my question is twofold.

Number one, does the Board think that that is not an issue in this proceeding?  If that's what you think, then please say that in your decision as clearly as you can.  But I don't think you can, because the statute requires you to consider that. 

Secondly, does the Board think that the combined proceeding says that should be excluded?  Because we have gone through the combined proceeding; it doesn't say anything of the sort.  Nor do any of the other decisions. 

Number two, the effect of the proposed transactions on the interests of electricity consumers with respect to the adequacy, reliability or quality of electricity service, is that an issue in this proceeding?  The answer is obviously yes, it has to be, because your objectives require you to consider that.  And I'll put it to you to in a simpler way, and this actually would apply to price too, but I think -- then I'll come to it in a minute.

With respect to reliability, let's hypothesize that an acquirer –- and this is not Hydro One.  I don't think you could claim that this would apply to Hydro One.  An acquirer of other utilities has acquired four or five, and within the first few years after they acquired them, their reliability, their service quality went right down the toilet.  It was awful.  They were running them badly.  Let's say that's a fact.

If they come to acquire another one, are you allowed and should you consider that pattern of behaviour in considering whether they should buy another one?  The answer is clearly you should.  Of course you should.  You may conclude:  Okay, they've changed their ways.  They have got a solution that means they are not going to do that anymore.  But you can't simply say:  No, that doesn't matter.  Because then you would be directly going against your obligations under the statute.

You have a utility that clearly might be screwing up another utility.  You have to consider that.

Same thing is true of price.  Reliability, price, the issue is exactly the same.  And remember we're not talking here about what your final decision is.  What we're talking about is:  What can you consider?  

All right.  Issues 3 and 4 on this list, same sort of thing: effect of the transaction on economic efficiency or cost-effectiveness.  Clearly, neither the combined proceeding nor any other proceeding has said that's not an issue.  Of course that an issue in this proceeding.  The effect of the proposed transaction on the maintenance of a financially viable electricity industry, is that relevant?  Yes.  It's an issue here, clearly.

And it's not like you have a choice in this.  It's not like you can say:  Well, we would rather not deal with that.  You can't.  Your statute requires you to.  

Let me go to my friend's six factors.

So his first factor is the selling price is only relevant if it's too high, so high that it that hurts the purchaser.  As I've made clear, that was true then.  Today a different issue has arisen, which has never been considered before, and that is:  Could the selling price be too high because of predatory pricing affecting the financial viability of the industry?  And if so, do you have to consider that?  Answer:  Yes. 

     The second one.  The Board is not concerned with the why or how.  But in that case, as we pointed out, what the Board said was:  We're not concerned with the process that the seller took to decide to sell.  They did not consider whether the purchaser had an inappropriate strategy.

     Third, the Board's concern is the effect in light of the objectives in the Act.  I agree 100 per cent.  So two effects are the purchased customers' rates will go up.  Consolidation will be hurt, consolidation in the industry will be hurt, because one large purchaser will have an advantage that is inappropriate.  So are those effects that the Board should take into account?  Well, the objectives say yes. 

     His fourth principle, that you have to look at the transaction and you can't look at any other transactions, well, I'm afraid my friend has mischaracterized what the Board said, because the Board didn't say you can't look at past behaviour.  The Board can't say you can't look at similar transactions that the same purchaser is doing right now.  None of those things have ever come up.


What the Board said is you can't look at alternatives to the transaction before the vendor.  You can't say:  Look it, let's look at the other bids and see whether they should have accepted those instead.  And the reason they said that is because there was a complaint about adequacy of price, and so the ratepayers said:  We want to see the other bids so that we can see whether we could have got more for our utility.  And the Board said:  No, that's not relevant.


That's not an issue here.  And so my friend saying:  No, this principle means that you can't look at past pattern of behaviour and you can't look at similar transactions that the purchaser is doing elsewhere, that's not correct.  That's not what the cases say, and it has never been considered in any of them.

Fifth, he says rates are not relevant.  Well, we have seen a number of cases in which rates were relevant.  I took you to a number of them.  And we saw one, and that's the Sudbury case, in which the Board said:  Look, let's deal with this component, which is commercial rates, in a rate case.  They said:  By the way, the fact that residential rates were going to go down was relevant.  But they said:  Let's look at this other one and say that will be dealt with in a rate case, in the context of costs going down.


And so -- and my friend went on to say -- and I'm going to have to look at the transcript, because I was sort of taken aback when I heard him say:  Well, this transaction doesn't have a rate increase, and so because of that we can't ask about rate increases, because there isn't one proposed.  Yeah.  No, that's not right.

Hydro One doesn't get to decide what the issues are that the Board deals with.  The Board gets to decide that.  And if in fact there will be a big rate increase for their ratepayers, the Board has no choice.  It must look at that.  

     And finally, there is now certainty on the issue of rate harmonization.  It is no longer a prerequisite for MAADs application.  And so, you know, I was surprised at Ms. Sebalj quoting the policy, because I thought she was going to go to page 5.  Page 5 says:

"A distributor..."


This is the new policy:

"A distributor will be required to specify its proposal for rate rebasing as part of the MAAD application.  In the normal course the expectation is that the distributor's proposal for rebasing will be rejected by the Board panel assigned to hear the MAAD application only on the basis of compelling evidence that the proposal would not result in just and reasonable rates."

     So the question is:  Can we then ask for evidence?  Because remember -- and my friend kept saying SEC can lead evidence.  Well, sorry -- information asymmetry -- Hydro One has all the data.  We don't have it.


So if we want to make a case, we have to ask them for the information that is in their possession.  So can we ask for information going to the question of whether the current proposal would result -- would not result in just and reasonable rates?  Can we?  Answer:  Yes.  Even the Board policy says that.  

     So my friend goes on to say that, you know, if we wanted to challenge the no-harm test, we should challenge it with a review and variance.  And technically, that's incorrect, of course, because the no-harm test is not a binding rule of the Board.  It's a policy.


And you cannot in fact consider yourself bound by the previous decisions.  You are not allowed to.  I'm sure Ms. Sebalj will tell you that, because your previous decisions are not binding.  Consistency is good, and we're big fans of consistency in Board decisions.  But you cannot say:  Well, previous decisions said A, B, C.  Therefore we have to say A, B, C.  Can't do that.


And so because of that, we can't come to review and vary the no-harm test.  There's nothing to review and vary.  There's no decision. 

     However -- and in fact, the binding thing is the objectives in the Act.  That's the thing that's binding.  

     However, in any case, we're not challenging the no-harm test.  We are in fact asking you to interpret the no-harm test in the context of a new facts situation that has never before been considered by the Board.  

     All right.  At least -- sorry, I should take that back.  It has been considered by the Board in the MAADs applications in '99 and 2000, when there was no no-harm test, and when nobody knew that all those acquired customers, several hundred thousand of them, were going to have whopping great rate increases in 2006.  Nobody knew that.  We weren't there defending the schools.  Nobody was there defending anybody, and the Board didn't know either.  Now we know what happens when Hydro One acquires a utility.

     I just have a couple of -- oh, and let me talk briefly about my friend's comment on anti-competitive actions, if I can find it.  Oh, I know where it is.


My friend Mr. Nettleton, I think, said -- oh, yeah, said if we have a concern about predatory pricing or anti-competitive behaviour, it is not appropriate for us to bring this to the Board.  We have two choices.  We can go to the government, which they think we've already done.  We don't go to the government on stuff like this.  The schools have more important things to do when they talk to the government.  And we leave that to energy people, to go to the government on energy things.  And -- or go to the Competition Bureau, and the Board is well aware that the Competition Bureau said on numerous occasions energy regulation is done by the Ontario Energy Board.  They are not going to interfere in Hydro One's acquisitions.  That's regulated by the Ontario government, and you're the regulator.


So unless my friend is saying you do not have jurisdiction and it should be either government policy or the Competition Bureau, he's just simply incorrect.

     So let me give you an example on that.  Let's suppose that the policy that has been requested by CCC, the Hydro One acquisition policy, says right in it:  Pricing should be done to ensure that over time other bidders will not bid for utilities.  That will reduce our costs over time.  Let's say the policy says that.  It probably doesn't, but let's say.


Is that relevant to you?  Would you have to say:  Oh, you know what?  That's not good.  That's contrary to the public interest, and we may have to consider that as a relevant fact.


My friends will all say no, that's not a relevant fact for you.  Even if it says that, you would not have -- you would not be able to consider that.  That's not common sense.

I'm trying to prioritize.  My friend, in responding to SEC 1 and 2, the questions on that -- this is with 

respect to rate classes and volumes -– he says two things.

 First of all, he says that because their evidence says that there will be a rate decrease, that’s all 

you can look at and nothing further is relevant.  So what they say in their application is relevant.  Us exploring it to find out the truth, what is really going to happen, that’s not relevant.  How could that be?

But he also goes on to say that in any case, Hydro One doesn't have the information and they are only obligated to provide the information that they already have.  That is not this Board's practice, and everybody on the Panel knows that.

If information can be developed by the Applicant with reasonable effort, it is the Board’s standard policy to ask them to do it, if the information would be helpful to the Board.  So Mr. Nettleton is just incorrect on that.

My friend says, and Ms. Sebalj agrees, that the 

answer to Staff 7.2, the first answer, which is:  We're going to harmonize with Hydro One rates, that required some further -- may have required some further details.  

So they changed their mind.  They said:  You know what?  Pretend we didn't say that.  We'll just tell you we don't know, and then we don't have to give you anything.  

So if they give you less information, then they don't have to answer the question.  Really?  What that suggests is that any applicant can avoid issues on rates, or anything else, by simply saying:  We don't know.  We haven't figured this out yet.  

In fact, how many times in these interrogatories have you seen this?  We haven't figured it out yet, so you can't ask and you don't need to know.  

There's another one of these cases where I may -- I 

can't believe the wording I wrote down, so I'm going to have to go back to the transcript to make sure I was right.  But I think Mr. Nettleton said, with respect to SEC 6, which deals with the recovery of the purchase premium number in past transactions, the Applicant says that that is not applicable, therefore you can't ask about it.  That's not really -- maybe I misunderstood him, but the fact is that if their past practice in 90-some-odd 

acquisitions has been that somehow they recovered all those 

premiums from ratepayers, this Board needs to know. 

So the evidence should be:  Here's how we accounted for it, and there's $283 million on our balance sheet for past premiums and purchases which we're not collecting from anybody.  That's what it should show.  And if it shows anything else, then you need to be concerned about that.

There's a number in which my friend said -- and I'm not going to go through them all.  There's maybe 10 of them where my friend said "asked and answered."  You heard that phrase several times from Mr. Nettleton, "asked and answered."  In many of those cases, they answered part of the question and not the rest of the question.  

I could go through all those, but you can read them yourself, and you can see that in every one of those cases, their answer doesn't answer the whole question.  It answers part of it, but not the other part, and the other part is typically the one we're really interested in --

     MR. NETTLETON:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  I must object at this point.  I've been listening intently to my friend, but I'm at a stage of questioning whether this is proper reply.  

Mr. Shepherd's comments are not made in reply to specific submissions I am making.  They are now being made in respect of the responses that have been provided on the face of the information response.  And if Mr. Shepherd wanted to challenge the responses provided, he had opportunity to do so in the -- in the motion, and in the 

submissions he made to support the motion.  

If he is now saying, like he has, that we haven't been responsive because we only answer part of the questions, why couldn't those submissions have been made in-chief, effectively?  Why is it only now coming up in reply?  

It's not me he's replying to.  He's having a second 

kick at the cat with respect to his motion, to support his motion.  I find that improper as it relates to reply. 

    MR. SHEPHERD:  There seems to be lots of improper stuff today.  My friend said they answered an interrogatory, and  I'm entitled to reply.  

If they said they answered it -– remember, I don't have pleadings from them to know what their position is.  The first time I heard their position on those interrogatories was when they said it today, and I answered it.  

"Asked and answered" is not correct.  And therefore, if I say:  It's not correct, go look, that's reply. 

     MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, my comments have been in respect of what is on the face of the response.  The "asked and answered" is tantamount to what is included.  The point that has been made in the responses have been either it's not relevant and it's clearly stated as being relevant, and Mr. Shepherd had every opportunity to give reasons why it is relevant, or it was answered the way it was.  

If Mr. Shepherd thinks that the answer wasn't provided -- wasn't sufficient, he has, as the moving party, 

the obligation at the outset to explain to you and to 

convince you that the response is inadequate.  

That isn't a matter of reply; that's a matter in-chief.  And for him to now be going through the litany of information responses and re-argue, and basically state this is why the response is inadequate, is improper reply. 

     MS. CONBOY:  One moment, please. 

[Board Panel confers] 


MS. CONBOY:  Perhaps, Mr. Shepherd, you could make a linkage in some of your comments now to the comments you have made in-chief. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I will in each case -– sorry, to my in- chief?  I think it's to my friend's argument. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, I stand corrected.  It's getting a little late. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll be finished shortly, because I'm not going to go through all of them.  

     My friend, under SEC 14, complains that we didn't use a preamble.  You know, I've written about 20- or 25,000 interrogatories before this Board, and nobody has ever complained that I didn't use a preamble.  And I'm frankly surprised, because in each case that he complained I didn't use a preamble, the question's crystal clear.  Crystal clear.  

     For example, SEC 14, how is this enforceable, that's what we asked; it wasn't complicated.  And my friend says we assumed that you were asking whether we had a legal opinion.  No reference to legal opinion finds its way in there.  

And then he goes on for several minutes to talk about the rest of the answer, saying:  Look how good the rest of the answer is.  We didn't complain about the rest of the answer.  If you look at paragraphs 73 and 74 of our submissions, we were very clear that we were only asking about the first part of the answer, the part they refused to answer.  

     In SEC 15, there is –- this is about productivity gains.  And my friend says:  Well, we don't need to provide you any more than we want to provide you.  We can tell you a little bit about productivity gains, and we can claim there will be productivity gains, but then if you ask about -- more about that, we can say no, no, no, no, that's not relevant.


Well, productivity is either relevant or not.  If it's relevant, then we can ask about it, and they should answer.


So here he then goes on to say:  Well, it means that there will be dis -- and by the way, in the PowerStream Barrie case, exactly that question arose.  I don't have it with me because I didn't expect this to be raised.  But in that case -- and Ms. Conboy would be intimately familiar with that -- we wanted information on productivity gains, and the Board ordered it to be produced.


My friend says:  Well, but then it means disclosure of the business model.  That's an issue of confidentiality.  That has nothing to do with relevance.  The Board has a very clear distinction between the two.  He can't say:  We won't answer because of confidentiality.  He can only say we won't answer because of relevance.


And finally, he says:  Well -- and keep in mind the test is the effect of the transaction.  And in what way are productivity gains not an effect of the transaction?


He then goes on in SEC 16 to talk about the accusation we made that they misunderstood the question.  In the terminology that is commonly used at the Board, if we say somebody misunderstood the question, we're saying:  You didn't intentionally try to deceive us.  We worded it badly.  Sorry.  That's what that is intended to say.  It is not an accusation.


But then he went on to say -- and we read it correctly, but if you take a look at the transcript and see what he read, he missed the key word, which is "tax rate changes."  He answered the question; tax rate changes.  We asked the question, tax changes, and when he quoted it to you, he left out that word.  


And I guess our question with that -- and by the way, our question with Mr. Randall is:  If it was a misunderstanding, why didn't you just answer it?  We filed the motion at the end of October.  Why haven't you answered these now?  Is there some other reason why you don't want to answer them?


Mr. Randall -- and my friend Mr. Vellone talked about Mr. Randall.  We're entitled talk to him to see whether he would be a useful witness, not because of the process, but because he knows the customers, he knows the town, he knows the service area.  And we're entitled to talk to him unless he is prohibited from talking to us.  That's all we wanted to know.


My friend says in a number of places questions about future rates are not relevant.  Well, I've dealt that one to death.  


He says that, with respect to EBN 2 and 45, capital spending in the future is not relevant.  And I have two comments on that.

First of all, if you look at every one of the other cases, every one of the other cases looks at whether capital spending will be maintained in the service territory, because of course the Board is concerned about that.  The Board doesn't want an acquirer to acquire a new franchise area and then not spend money in that area.  


And secondly, this is an effect of the transaction.  If there's a drop in capital spending in the Norfolk area, is that not an effect of the transaction?  My friend says:  Well, you've got to look at the effect of the transaction.  Well, yes, a drop in capital spending would be just that.


And I guess my final comment -- I do want to get to some more, but I won't.  My final comment is on EBN 3 and 4, because we asked about a pattern of -- about the pattern of what happened in past acquisitions, and my friend says:  Well, that's SEC's theory of their case.

It isn't, actually; it's something that might be true, but we don't know yet because we don't have the evidence.  And he says we can't ask them for data.  They have to support our theory.  That is not this Board's practice.  This Board's practice is if they have evidence that is relevant to the issues in this proceeding and would support the position of any other party, they are required to provide it if we ask for it.  That is this Board's consistent approach for as long as I've appeared before this Board, since 1985.

     And so I would say that he's simply mistaken on that one, and I don't know what else to say about it.


I think -- I think I'm going to stop there.  Thank

you.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are our submissions, unless you have any questions.  


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Thank you, everyone.  We have no questions for you.  Thank you for coming out today.  We will endeavour to get a decision out to you as soon as possible, which will also include the procedural steps going forward.  And we are adjourned.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:13 p.m.
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